



Hawkesbury Institute for the Environment

COASTAL IFOA MONITORING PROGRAM

Review of the impact of injuries to retained trees during forestry operations conducted under the Coastal IFOA in New South Wales – Final Report

August 2023

A report submitted to the New South Wales Government Natural Resources Commission

Acknowledgement of country

With respect for Aboriginal cultural protocol and out of recognition that its campuses occupy their traditional lands, Western Sydney University acknowledges the Darug, Eora, Dharawal (also referred to as Tharawal) and Wiradjuri peoples and thanks them for their support of its work in their lands (Greater Western Sydney and beyond).

Acknowledgements

Western Sydney University acknowledges and appreciates the assistance, support and feedback provided by the Natural Resources Commission, NSW Environment Protection Authority and Forestry Corporation of NSW. In particular, the field-based meetings attended to by representatives from these organisations were key in guiding this project toward completion. The NSW Department of Primary Industries and NSW Department of Planning and Environment are also acknowledged for their feedback on the draft reports, which helped to improve the final draft.

Disclaimer

This document contains a general synthesis of scientific research and grey literature. For the most complete information possible, the Authors advise the reader to go to the original source of the information. The information in this document is necessarily drawn from a wide variety of sources and specific contexts and should not be used for any specific context without gaining prior expert advice. The Authors will not accept responsibility or be liable for any consequences that arise directly or indirectly from using the information contained within this document.

Citation:

Bendall, E. R., Nichols, E., Nolan, R. H., Choat, B. (2023) *Review of the impact of injuries to retained trees during forestry operations conducted under the Coastal IFOA in New South Wales – Final Report, Hawkesbury Institute for the Environment, Western Sydney University*

1 Abbreviations

Final Report

Abbreviation	Description	
mm	millimetres	
cm	centimetres	
m	metres	
km	kilometres	
m ²	square metres	
ha	hectare	
CO ₂	carbon dioxide	
H ₂ O	water	
DBH	diameter at breast height	
DSHOB	diameter at stump height over bark	
spp.	species	
NSW	New South Wales	
EPA	NSW Environment Protection Authority	
FCNSW	Forestry Corporation of NSW	
NRC	NSW Natural Resources Commission	
Coastal IFOA	Coastal Integrated Forestry Operations Approval	
WHS Act	Work Health and Safety Act 2011	
ESA	Environmentally Significant Area	
BNA	Base Net Area	
NHA	Net Harvest Area	

CONTENTS

1	ABBR	ABBREVIATIONS1		
2	REVIE	REVIEW CONTEXT		
	2.1	BACKGROUND	5	
	2.1.1	Assessment of the impact of damage to retained trees	6	
	2.1.2	Relevant Coastal IFOA monitoring questions	7	
	2.1.3	Review objective	8	
3	3 LITERATURE REVIEW			
	3.1	Summary	9	
	3.2		9	
	3.2.1	Context of retained trees managed under to Coastal IFOA	9	
	3.2.2	Context of tree injuries related to forestry operations	11	
	3.3	FOREST EUCALYPT LIFE CYCLE	12	
	3.4	IMPACTS OF INJURY ON TREE PHYSIOLOGY	14	
	3.5	EUCALYPT RESPONSES TO DROUGHT AND FIRE	15	
	3.6	Types of retained trees and their purpose under the Coastal IFOA		
	3.6.1	Permanently retained trees		
	3.6	6.1.1 Hollow-bearing trees		
	3.6	6.1.2 Large diameter tree cohort		
	3.6	6.1.3 Dead standing trees	20	
	3.6.2	2 Temporarily retained trees	20	
	3.6	6.2.1 Koala browse trees	21	
	3.6	6.2.2 Glider sap feed trees	22	
	3.6	6.2.3 Glossy black-cockatoo feed trees	22	
	3.6	6.2.4 Nectar feed trees	22	
	3.7	IMPACTS OF INJURIES TO RETAINED TREES AND THEIR FUNCTIONS	23	
	3.7.1	Knocked over / uprooted / broken or snapped tree	25	

Pu	Published: August 2023 Final Report			
	3.7.2	Mechanical crown injury		
	3.7.3	Mechanical bole injury		
	3.7	2.3.1 Impacts of bole injuries on tree function		
	3.7.4	Insects and fungi		
	3.7.5	Root injury		
4	POTE	NTIAL APPROACH TO ASSESSMENT OF RISK TO RETAINED TREES		
	4.1	Summary		
	4.2	SECTION A		
	4.2.1	Type of injury: Knocked over / uprooted / broken or snapped tree		
	Cri	teria 1: Not free-standing		
	Cri	teria 2: Broken or snapped tree	40	
	4.2.2	Type of injury: Mechanical crown injury		
		Criteria 3: Crown injury type A	42	
		Criteria 4: Crown injury type B	42	
	4.3	SECTION B	47	
	4.3.1	Type of injury: Mechanical bole injury		
		Criteria 6: Bole injury type A (immediate/near-term loss of function)	47	
		Criteria 7: Bole injury type B (potential future loss of function)	48	
	4.4	SECTION C	55	
	4.4.1	Condition A: Root injury		
	4.4.2	Condition B: Termite infestation		
5	REFE	RENCES	58	
6	APPENDIX A – DRAFT INJURY THRESHOLD DECISION MATRIX73			
7	APPENDIX B – DRAFT STUDY DESIGN			

2 Review context

2.1 Background

The Coastal Integrated Forestry Operations Approval (Coastal IFOA) was approved by the NSW Government in late 2018. It establishes the conditions and settings to enable forestry operations on NSW State Forest and Crown-timber land and includes provisions for the protection of the environment and for threatened species conservation.

The NSW Government intended the new Coastal IFOA to deliver a contemporary outcomes-based regulatory framework to reduce the costs associated with implementation and compliance and improve clarity and enforceability. It established over twenty outcome statements. The Coastal IFOA must be interpreted in a manner that is consistent with achieving and giving effect to the outcome statements. However, they are not enforceable on their own.

The conditions set mandatory actions and controls for protecting threatened plants and animals, habitats, soils and water. The conditions are supported by protocols, which set out additional enforceable actions and controls for effective implementation of the Coastal IFOA.

The Coastal IFOA requires continual monitoring of the effectiveness of its conditions and the extent to which its objectives and outcomes are achieved. This is achieved through the Coastal IFOA Monitoring Program, which is overseen by the Natural Resources Commission (the Commission) on behalf of the cross-agency NSW Forest Monitoring Steering Committee. Under this program, annual health checks are carried out to review emerging evidence, identify knowledge gaps and set monitoring and evaluation priorities for the coming year.

Published: August 2023

2.1.1 Assessment of the impact of damage to retained trees

At the 2022 Coastal IFOA annual health check chaired by the Commission, parties agreed to develop an evidence base to understand and objectively assess the impact of $damage^1$ to *retained trees* (Box 1) during forestry operations on the ecological function and longevity of these damaged *retained trees*.

The primary function of *retained trees* is to maintain shelter and food resources for native fauna to support the persistence of those fauna. However, *retained trees* may be injured during *forestry operations* through accidental impact by harvesting or roading machinery or impact by other trees during felling or extraction.

If the level of injuries compromises the *retained tree's* longevity or suitability to fulfil the purpose for which it has been retained under the approval, the impact is considered to be *damage* in accordance with the definition in the Coastal IFOA Protocol 39:

damage "In the context of a *retained tree*, means the tree's longevity or suitability to fulfil the purpose for which it has been retained under the approval has been compromised, including where a tree is intentionally felled, pushed or removed to comply with the *WHS Act*."

Damaged retained trees are required to be replaced in accordance with Protocol 23.

Currently there is no agreed understanding of the type and level of injuries that *retained trees* can sustain above which they are unable to provide the function for which they were retained, i.e., level of injury at which retained trees are considered to be *damaged*.

¹ Bolded italics are terms defined in Coastal IFOA Protocol 39

Published: August 2023

Box 1: Retained trees

Retained trees are defined in Protocol 39 as:

- "1. A hollow-bearing tree, nectar tree, giant tree, dead standing tree, glossy black-cockatoo feed tree, glider sap feed tree or koala browse tree retained for the purpose of conditions 63 and 64 of the approval; or
 - 2. A tree mapped on the:
 - a. Retained_Trees' *spatial dataset*;
 - b. Assessed_Retained_trees' *spatial dataset* or
 - c. a FCNSW field dataset."

The relevant outcome statement is "Important trees are retained and protected for shelter and food resources for native species, and to support their persistence" (NSW EPA 2018).

Retained trees can occur within the *Net Harvest Area* (NHA) as individual *retained trees* or may be located within *tree retention clumps*.

Some types of *retained trees* are required to be retained permanently, whereas others are required to retain their function during and at *completion* of the *forestry operation*.

2.1.2 Relevant Coastal IFOA monitoring questions

The Coastal IFOA Monitoring Program established monitoring questions to focus monitoring on the highest risk activities. Relevant Coastal IFOA monitoring questions related to *retained trees* are:

- Are the Coastal IFOA conditions effectively meeting its objectives and outcomes?
- To what extent do retained habitat features maintain their function?
- Do the conditions support key habitat features to maintain fauna species within and across the forest?

The specific monitoring question related to *damage* to *retained trees* is:

What level of injuries to individual *retained trees* resulting from *forestry operations* represents *damage* that compromises the ability of a *retained tree* to provide the purpose for which it was retained?

2.1.3 *Review objective*

The objective of this review is to provide a scientifically valid evidence base to inform decision-making about what constitutes *damage* to *retained trees* during *forestry operations* on State Forests and Crown Land within the Coastal IFOA region. The Commission engaged specialist researchers from the Hawkesbury Institute for the Environment at Western Sydney University to prepare this review. The review consists of:

- a review of published and grey literature covering current knowledge about the response mechanisms of trees found within the Coastal IFOA region to physical injuries, including recovery timeframes and/or impact on tree longevity with respect to *retained tree* functions
- an assessment of the risk to the ongoing function of *retained trees* due to different types and levels of injury, using the best available evidence. The assessment does not attempt to define damage thresholds for different types of injuries. Damage thresholds will be set through a separate process,
- a proposed evidence-based method that could be used as a framework for setting objective injury thresholds² for each category of *retained tree* beyond which a *retained tree's* longevity and function can no longer be maintained (i.e. the threshold above which an injury represents *damage*).

² Threshold represents level of *damage* that *retained trees* can sustain above which they are unable to provide the function for which they were retained. Thresholds will be established through a subsequent project, subject to suitability of the proposed method and available funding.

3 Literature review

Final Report

3.1 Summary

Mechanical injuries to retained trees during forestry operations are likely to have variable effects that depend on the severity of the injury, tree species (e.g. resprouter versus obligate seeder), future disturbances/external stressors such as fire, drought and biotic attack, and the health status of the tree at the time of injury. The effects of most external stressors are difficult to account for during a snapshot assessment of tree injuries, and monitoring or retrospective studies would be required to assess their impacts upon injuries over time. Some types of injuries are likely to be immediately catastrophic, with effectively no chance of tree recovery, such as uprooting a tree/knocking it over and bole injuries that cause a tree to become unstable or extensively impact conductive tissues that transport water and nutrients between the roots and shoot. Crown injuries are unlikely to prevent giant trees and hollow-bearing trees from performing their function, as long as they are species capable of resprouting and still possess the habitat attributes for which they were retained (e.g. hollows). However, crown injuries that remove a significant proportion of the canopy are likely to substantially reduce the function of most types of temporary feed trees, e.g. via impacts on sap flow and foliage/seed availability. The longer-term trajectory of retained trees that experience less extensive injuries to the crown or bole remains uncertain due to a lack of literature examining these aspects of tree health, although such injuries are unlikely to be detrimental to retained trees in the short-term. It is also likely that other agents of tree damage such as fire, drought and biotic attack may exacerbate injuries and subsequently impact future tree function. For example, if a fire impacts an existing injury prior to a wound healing (occlusion), it could lengthen the timeframe for wound occlusion and increase vulnerability to other agents of tree decline.

3.2 Introduction

3.2.1 Context of retained trees managed under to Coastal IFOA

Under the Coastal IFOA, a hierarchy of environmental protection mechanisms, regulatory requirements and conservation aims are applied at multiple landscape scales, from the level of

Final Report

compartments³, the local landscape areas³ and management zones³ up to the Coastal IFOA region (EPA 2018). Within management zones, limitations are placed on the total area available for harvesting and the amount of forest that can be intensively harvested (EPA 2020). Within local landscape areas (areas up to 1500 ha), protected forest types, habitats, and threatened ecological communities are excluded from harvesting via delineation of Environmentally Significant Areas³ (ESAs) and wildlife habitat clumps³. For example, a substantial area of forest (e.g. >55%) within the Coastal IFOA region is permanently excluded from harvesting and designated as an ESA, with the remainder designated as Base Net Area³ (BNA) (NSW EPA 2018; FCNSW 2023). A minimum of 5% of BNA of each local landscape area is permanently protected in wildlife habitat clumps, independent of ESAs (EPA 2018). Any remaining forest represents the Net Harvest Area³ (NHA), in which habitat trees serving a variety of ecological purposes are selected as formally **retained trees**. Within the NHA, at the compartment or coupe-level, **retained trees** are located within and outside of tree retention clumps³⁴.

The Coastal IFOA permits four types of harvesting operations: selective harvesting³, mixed intensity harvesting³, intensive harvesting³ in intensive harvesting zones³, and within the Eden subregion alternate coupe harvesting³ is permitted (EPA 2020). Selective harvesting operations selectively harvest trees and groups of trees from the NHA (EPA 2020). Intensive harvesting operations and alternate coupe harvesting is restricted to their respective regions, the former includes harvesting with retention of seed trees and **retained trees** throughout a coupe and the latter includes harvesting with retention of seed trees and **retained trees** of up to 60% of the BNA of a compartment. Mixed intensity harvesting uses a combination of selective harvesting and intensive harvesting. **Retained trees** as defined by the Coastal IFOA must be identified and retained in advance of any harvesting operations (EPA 2020).

Selective harvesting is widely employed in mixed-age and mixed-species eucalypt forests across the Coastal IFOA region. This approach is based on the New South Wales

³ See the following sources for the formal definition/meaning of these terms in relation to the Coastal IFOA: NSW EPA. (2018) Coastal Integrated Forestry Operations Approval - Conditions. p. 85, Sydney, NSW EPA. (2020) Coastal Integrated Forestry Operations Approval - Protocols. p. 275, Parramatta.

⁴ 'tree retention clump' and 'wildlife habitat clump' have different meanings under the Coastal IFOA, see sources listed above for further information.

Final Report

Selective Harvesting³ silvicultural system and aims to minimise disturbance to retained trees and conserve growing stock (FCNSW 2015). The retained basal area is dependent on the mapping of the compartment in the regrowth³ or non-regrowth zone datasets³ (EPA 2018); a minimum average basal area of 10m² per ha at breast height (e.g. 1.3 m) in the harvested area must be retained in the regrowth zone, and a minimum average basal area of 12m² per ha in the non-regrowth zone (EPA 2018). The retained basal area³ is composed of non-merchantable trees, pre-merchantable trees, trees retained for silvicultural purposes, and formally **retained trees**. Trees comprising the retained basal area are scattered across the harvested area (EPA 2018).

The terms 'retained tree' or 'retained trees', in bold text in this document refer to formal definition of a retained tree (see Box 1) as defined under the Coastal IFOA (NSW EPA 2020). Retained trees assist in providing resources needed by native fauna for their survival and persistence (NSW EPA 2018) and form part of broader multi-landscape level management goals in NSW native forests. Retained trees are required to be retained either permanently or temporarily in order to fulfill their intended ecological function (NSW EPA 2018). Retained trees are retained in accordance with the Coastal IFOA unless they sustain damage that inhibits the function for which they were retained. In this case, a tree is replaced with a comparable tree or, when a comparable tree is not available, a mature tree with healthy crown (NSW EPA 2018). The terms 'damage' or 'damaged', in bold text in this document refer to formal definition of damage (see 1.1.1) as defined under the Coastal IFOA (NSW EPA 2020). The term 'function' in the context of this document refers the provision of resources to fauna and/or intrinsic value. Any reference to 'damage' or 'retained tree' not presented in bold text stated above.

3.2.2 Context of tree injuries related to forestry operations

Injuries to retained trees on logged sites can affect all parts of the tree, including the crown, bole and roots (Jackson *et al.* 2002; Medjibe *et al.* 2011). Injuries to trees can occur due to impacts by machinery and other fallen trees. Although data for Australian tree species are scarce, direct impacts to trees retained during forestry operations generally result in low rates of immediate tree mortality or stem collapse (Whitford and Williams 2001; Medjibe *et al.*

Published: August 2023

2011; Shenkin *et al.* 2015). Data provided by the Forestry Corporation of NSW indicates that, on average, there are 11.4 **retained trees** per hectare and that 0.14 **retained trees** per hectare experience **damage** due to forestry operations (FCNSW 2023). At the level of a single forestry operational area, this equates to around 1.3% of **retained trees** being **damaged** (FCNSW 2023). At present, these figures provided by the Forestry Corporation of NSW do not incorporate any formal, evidence-based threshold for **damage**.

Injuries acquired through natural processes or due to forestry operations that expose the conductive tissues of the tree may impact tree health, e.g. via impacts on hydraulic function (Rundel 1973; Sillett *et al.* 2015). Injuries to tissues also provide opportunities for decay, termites and fire that can cause structural weakness and reduce stability (Vasiliauskas 2001; Whitford and Williams 2001; Watson *et al.* 2020), which can contribute to mortality or collapse of trees over longer time frames. For example, post-harvest fires can exacerbate injuries, leading to higher rates of tree collapse (Gibbons *et al.* 2008). There are major knowledge gaps in relation to how the severity of some types of injuries impact on tree survival, longevity and their capacity to provide resources for fauna. This literature review aims to contextualise injuries caused during forestry operations within other processes that influence tree health and mortality for different types of **retained trees** and understand how injuries may impact their continued function.

3.3 Forest eucalypt life cycle

Forest eucalypts experience a series of distinctive growth stages and the amount and diversity of resources they provide to other organisms changes over time. Initial growth stages, from germination to sapling are characterised by rapid vertical growth and the development of a compact crown. During the earliest stages, flowering, nectar production and deadwood production is limited (Bradshaw 2015a) as trees allocate resources to vigorous stem growth and defensive structures, such as bark and starch reserves. However, some early regrowth forests are known to produce substantial nectar resources at the stand-scale (Law and Chidel 2008). Allocation to stem growth enables plants to better compete for light, while allocation to defensive structures helps protect against disturbances including fire and herbivory (Clarke *et al.* 2013). As eucalypts approach maturity and become a component of the forest canopy, stem diameter, bark thickness, and leaf area increase, the crown begins to spread and open, and

Published: August 2023

provide nectar and seeds that are utilised by many nectivorous and seed-eating fauna. Once the mature stage is reached, the crown begins to fully extend, leaf area is maximised, reproduction is typically consistent and small hollows may begin to form (Gibbons et al. 2000b; Bradshaw 2015b). Hollow formation typically occurs due to limb-breakage (e.g. from wind, storms) or fire (e.g. fire scar formation) and subsequent interactions with wood consumers (e.g. termites, borers, fungi) and additional disturbances (Gibbons et al. 2000b; Koch et al. 2008). Most hollow formation occurs during the late-mature and over-mature growth stages, where the crown begins to senesce and limbs begin to fall with higher frequency. During this phase, extensive piping and hollowing of the main bole and major limbs can occur, increasing the number of large hollows available (Gibbons et al. 2000b). Hollows with very large internal dimensions suitable for species of large forest owls can take between 100-200 years to form (NSW TSSC 2007; Vesk et al. 2008). As trees age, they become less able to effectively occlude wounds and thus structural weaknesses may develop as hollowing becomes more extensive (Gibbons et al. 2000b). During these later stages, leaf area may decline but reproduction continues, hollow availability and size-diversity increases and there is typically regular production of coarse woody debris as limbs fall (Gibbons and Lindenmayer 2002). As a result, late- and over-mature trees provide substantial resources for fauna that rely on nectar/seeds, hollows and decaying wood, and contribute to forest nutrient cycling that maintains ecosystem function and productivity (O'Connell 1987; Scotts 1991; Gibbons and Lindenmayer 2002). Many trees may never reach this growth stage, due to impacts from disturbances such as fire, drought, wind, lightning strikes and biotic attack from insects and pathogens. For example, fire scar formation at the tree base is known to be a leading cause of stem collapse and mortality in eucalypt forests (Whitford and Williams 2001; Bendall et al. 2022). However, many eucalypt species are capable of vigorous resprouting following severe disturbance and so new stems may form following tree collapse. Collapsed stems become coarse woody debris that provides resources for ground-dwelling fauna and a source of organic carbon that may be incorporated into the soil or lost to fire. Some dead trees may remain standing for long periods, until decay

reproduction becomes more likely (Bradshaw 2015b). During this early-mature stage, trees

and structural weakness cause them to fall or disintegrate.

3.4 Impacts of injury on tree physiology

Final Report

The compromise between water loss (transpiration) and carbon gain (photosynthesis) is at the core of tree physiology. Plants must open stomata in order to take up CO₂ but in the process, they also lose water to the surrounding environment. The exchange is very uneven, with plants losing roughly 500 molecules of H₂O for every molecule of CO₂ assimilated into sugars (Taiz and Zeiger 2002). As such, large trees require an efficient long distance transport system to move water to the canopy at a rate that allows a net positive carbon balance and avoids desiccation. Water is transported from the roots to the canopy through the xylem tissue (sapwood), which is specialised to allow efficient transport of water while maintaining the structural integrity of the tree (Tyree and Zimmermann 2002). Water loss is controlled by the stomata, which must optimise the amount of carbon uptake for a given loss of water. Photoassimilate is transported from the leaves to non-photosynthetic sink tissues via the phloem. Layers of undifferentiated cells called the cambium are responsible for producing xylem, phloem and bark: xylem is typically formed on the inside of the cambium, while phloem and bark form to the outside (Tyree and Zimmermann 2002). Functioning xylem, the cambium and phloem typically comprise a relative narrow band of tissue located immediately underneath the bark. Any injury to sections of this tissue will have consequences for continued plant function. The capacity of trees to recover from injury varies broadly across species, depending on the size and location of the injury, as well as concomitant environmental stresses and biotic attack.

Trees that have evolved in disturbance-prone environments, such as eucalypts, possess various traits and adaptations that counter environmental stress, disturbance, injury and biotic attack. For example, thick protective bark minimises dehydration of living tissues and protects against fire and animals (Ferrenberg *et al.* 2014; Pausas 2015), while dormant growth buds and stored carbohydrates enable rapid regrowth of leaves (Burrows 2013; Clarke *et al.* 2013). Many eucalypts are also capable of osmotic adjustment and production of solutes that minimise water loss during drought (Merchant *et al.* 2006; Merchant *et al.* 2007). Relative differences in the investment of resources related to defensive strategies, such as thick bark and stored carbohydrates, versus investment in rapid vertical growth and reproduction, is an evolutionary trade-off driven by environmental conditions, disturbance regimes and competition (Keeley *et al.* 2011; Pausas *et al.* 2016; Pausas and Keeley 2017). As a result, eucalypts represent a spectrum of functional types that include species with and without the capability to resprout

Final Report

following disturbance (Nicolle 2006). Thus, depending on species, the capacity of a tree to survive an injury will inherently be different and will depend on the severity of the injury. For example, an obligate seeder (i.e. a species which does not survive complete defoliation following fire, but regenerates via seed) may be unlikely to survive a broken bole or loss of the canopy. Entry wounds on the stem provide a gateway for insects and decay to enter the tree and may cause fungal rot, wood defects and structural instability (Greaves *et al.* 1965; Whitford and Williams 2001), in addition to exposing the conductive and supportive tissues to fire and changes in atmospheric conditions. Injury to the conductive tissues may interrupt the flow of water and nutrients and affect the rate of transpiration and subsequently photosynthesis, which may impact tree health (Tyree and Zimmermann 2002). Environmental stresses such as drought and heat stress may exacerbate the consequences of these injuries by further disrupting physiological function and delaying recovery (Losso et al. 2022). Whether a tree can heal an injury will likely depend on its inherent ability to heal and whether or not additional disturbances occur that exacerbate the injury before healing is completed.

3.5 Eucalypt responses to drought and fire

What follows is a general summary of knowledge relating to fire and drought effects on eucalypts to provide some context around the structural and physiological limits of trees in native forests. Many eucalypt species, including the genera *Eucalyptus, Corymbia* and *Angophora*, recover from severe disturbance via resprouting from epicormic buds beneath the bark and/or from an underground storage organ called a lignotuber (Nicolle 2006; Burrows 2013; Clarke *et al.* 2015). Epicormic resprouting is primarily an adaptation to cope with the effects of crown fire, allowing trees to retain biomass through disturbances and quickly recover canopy foliage (Keeley *et al.* 2011; Clarke *et al.* 2013; Pausas and Keeley 2017). Epicormic resprouting thereby confers resilience to severe disturbances, as structural changes are minimised through mature tree persistence and recruitment is facilitated through shading and protection from surviving overstorey trees (Bond and Midgley 2001; Burrows 2013). Specifically, the present review assumes that certain injuries (i.e. disturbances) will likely result in successful tree resprouting and rapid recovery because there is significant demonstrable evidence that many eucalypts are capable of doing so (Nicolle 2006; Vivian *et al.* 2008; Clarke *et al.* 2013; Fairman *et al.* 2016; Collins 2020; Nolan *et al.* 2021a; Bendall *et*

Published: August 2023

al. 2022). Injured trees that resprout epicormically are likely to recover their canopies and resume normal photosynthesis before the next forestry operation, likely rendering epicormic responses undetectable by that time. For example, once the canopy has recovered and epicormic growth no longer required then by default a tree will score higher during a canopy health assessment (Stone *et al.* 2008; Nolan *et al.* 2021b; Losso *et al.* 2022a). Successful resprouting in eucalypts depends on the severity of the disturbance and tree characteristics such as stem size, bark characteristics and previous fire damage (Collins 2020; Nolan *et al.* 2020; Bendall *et al.* 2022). However, there are a number of obligate seeder species with limited or no capacity to resprout following disturbance and regeneration is entirely from seed. Although many species can both resprout and recover from seed, some are weak resprouters (Bradford 2018). Thus, disturbance-related mortality and resprouting patterns across forests are likely to vary among species (Trouvé *et al.* 2021). A number of obligate seeders and weak resprouters occur throughout the Coastal IFOA management area (**Table 1**).

Scientific name	Common name	Resprouting limitations
Eucalyptus oreades	Blue Mountains ash, White ash	Limited to no ability to resprout from lignotuber (Little and Gardner 2003).
Eucalyptus fraxinoides	White ash, White mountain ash	Limited to no ability to resprout from lignotuber (Little and Gardner 2003).
Eucalyptus pauciflora	Snow gum	Limited capacity to resprout epicormically, vulnerable to hydraulic failure, typically able to resprout from a lignotuber (Losso <i>et al.</i> 2022b).
Eucalyptus grandis	Flooded gum, Rose gum	Facultative seeder with 2-3 year recruitment timeline with limited resprouting capacity (Bradford 2018).
Eucalyptus delegatensis	Alpine ash	Obligate seeder (mainland population only) with limited resprouting capacity (Rodriguez-Cubillo <i>et al.</i> 2020).

Table 1. List of species within Coastal IFOA management area with limited or no ability to resprout following disturbance.

Widespread vegetation recovery has been recorded across forests since the extensive and severe fires of 2019-2020 and prior drought, largely attributed to above average rainfall (Gibson and Hislop 2022; Qin *et al.* 2022). However, some areas affected by fire are recovering more slowly or are yet to show any substantial signs of recovery (Gibson and Hislop 2022). Areas of dry forest and woodland that experienced significant canopy dieback due to the effects

Published: August 2023

of drought and heatwaves during 2017-2020 (Nolan *et al.* 2021b; Losso *et al.* 2022b) have exhibited variable rates of recovery (Losso *et al.* 2022, Nichols *et al.* unpub). Work is underway to assess levels of tree mortality in NSW forests exposed to combined severe drought and severe fire in 2019-2020. Preliminary estimates indicate that tree mortality is within the range of 17-35% depending on forest and soil type (e.g. wet or dry sclerophyll forest, Bendall *et al.* unpub). Knowledge of the effects of fire, heat and drought stress on plants is integral to understanding the vulnerability of forests to future climate extremes and fire susceptibility (Collins *et al.* 2022). Projected increased temperatures under climate change are likely to compound drought effects on forests (Allen *et al.* 2021), leading to hotter, deadlier droughts (Naumann *et al.* 2018). For example, extreme temperatures may exacerbate plant hydraulic failure (Marchin *et al.* 2022b) and cause photosystem damage independent of hydraulic failure (Marchin *et al.* 2022b).

Drought-induced dieback occurs by three interdependent mechanisms, hydraulic failure, carbon starvation and biotic attack, which may work in tandem or as a cascade of effects (Brodribb and Cochard 2009; Choat et al. 2018; Nolan et al. 2021b). The underlying cause of drought-induced dieback is air embolism (blockage caused by cell desiccation) formation in the water transport tissues (xylem) of a plant. Air emboli form when critical thresholds of water stress are reached in the xylem, causing vaporisation of water in vessels (Mantova et al. 2022). Embolism reduces water transport capacity and causes depletion of carbon stores which can lead to tree mortality. Eucalypt species vary broadly in their resistance to drought-induced embolism and their ability to survive extreme levels of water stress (Bourne et al. 2017; Li et al. 2018). When released from drought stress, some eucalypts are capable of recovering from very high levels of xylem embolism by growth of new xylem and epicormic resprouting (Gauthey et al. 2022; Losso et al. 2022b); thus embolism mortality thresholds are challenging to define, although evidence suggests that they occur at levels of water stress causing 80-90% loss of hydraulic capacity (Hammond et al. 2019; Duan et al. 2023). In cases where trees survive hydraulic failure, they are rendered more vulnerable to future stressors (Mantova et al. 2022).

Future occurrence of fire and drought may impact the status of trees with pre-existing injuries and impacts may vary among species (e.g. resprouters versus obligate seeders). For example, the presence of a naturally-occurring basal fire scar injury is a strong predictor of stem/tree mortality following severe fire and in areas where trees are retained as part of

silvicultural systems (Whitford and Williams 2001; Gibbons *et al.* 2008; Bluff 2016; Bendall *et al.* 2022). Mechanical injuries that resemble fire scars (e.g. loss of bark and vascular tissues on the main bole) could therefore decrease the longevity of a **retained tree** through increased vulnerability to fire effects and their interaction with other agents of tree injury (e.g. biotic attack). Future impacts of disturbance on the function of different types of **retained trees** that have an existing injury are currently difficult to predict as the type of disturbance (e.g. drought, fire, biotic attack), severity and frequency would need to be considered, along with the type of injury (e.g. crown versus bole) and the capacity of a tree to heal wounds, regenerate structural tissue and resume normal levels of function. Nonetheless, such predictions are necessary to integrate estimates of the potential effects of future disturbances into a threshold-based system of **damage** to **retained trees**. Extensive data collection and modelling would be required to produce thresholds that explicitly incorporate these variables, which is beyond the scope of this literature review and associated content.

3.6 Types of retained trees and their purpose under the Coastal IFOA

This section provides the formal definitions of different types of **retained trees** relevant to the Coastal IFOA. Any content within later sections of this review and the associated assessment that describes impacts to **retained tree** function or longevity that could represent **damage** relates to **retained trees** as described in this section. Some broader ecological context is given in the descriptions where appropriate to highlight key ecological values.

3.6.1 Permanently retained trees

3.6.1.1 Hollow-bearing trees

Hollow-bearing trees are defined under the Coastal IFOA as:

"A tree that is alive and has:

1. visible hollows, holes or cavities that have likely formed because of decay, injury or other damage as the tree has aged; or

2. clearly inferred hollows as it is an older growth stage tree (in particular in a senescent tree) with one or more obvious deformities such as a burl, large protuberance or broken limb.

Final Report

Note: Guidance will support the application of this definition" (NSW EPA 2020).

Under the Coastal IFOA, hollow-bearing trees are permanently retained in landscapescale exclusions (i.e. areas that are never harvested), compartment-scale exclusions (i.e. ESAs) and patch-scale exclusions (i.e. tree retention clumps). In addition, prescribed numbers of hollow-bearing trees are permanently retained within the Net Harvest Area (NSW EPA 2018). Across NSW, tree hollows provide shelter and nests to 174 hollow using species, composed of 46 mammals, 81 birds, 31 reptiles and 16 frogs; 40 of which are threatened with extinction (NSW Government 2023). Loss of hollow-bearing trees is listed as key threatening process under the NSW *Biodiversity Conservation Act* (2016).

Fauna hollow use is determined by species-specific requirements including hollow depth, hollow entrance size, tree species, diameter at breast height (DBH), and abundance of hollows (Gibbons *et al.* 2002; Goldingay 2011; Hofman *et al.* 2022). Harvesting disturbance and fire regimes can influence hollow availability. For example, forestry operations can cause crown damage which may lead to branch-end hollow formation (Hofman *et al.* 2022). Fire can influence both hollow creation and loss, e.g. by forming hollows and increasing the size of existing hollows but also by consuming branches and stems that contains hollows (Haslem *et al.* 2012; Stares *et al.* 2018).

3.6.1.2 Large diameter tree cohort

Large diameter trees meeting the folhlowing definition are permanently retained under the Coastal IFOA:

"['giant tree'] In relation to Blackbutt or Alpine Ash trees, means any live tree of these *species* with a *diameter at stump height over bark* (*DSHOB*) of 160 centimetres or greater.

In relation to all other tree *species*, means a live tree with a *diameter at stump height over bark* (*DSHOB*) of 140 centimetres or greater" (NSW EPA 2020).

The rationale for permanent retention of trees in this size-class is that hollow abundance and diversity increases with tree diameter and the likelihood of fauna occupancy increases with the number of hollows (NRC 2016). Thus, large diameter trees are likely to provide habitat and

Published: August 2023

contribute to maintaining viable populations of flora and fauna across landscapes (NRC 2016). All hollow-bearing trees continue providing hollows following senescence and are therefore a key enduring resource for hollow-using animals.

Lindenmayer & Bowd (Lindenmayer and Bowd 2022) suggest that historically, forestry operations selectively targeted large-diameter trees which has reduced their abundance in some areas, potentially impacting genetic diversity and forest resilience to stressors (Lowe *et al.* 2005; Lindenmayer and Laurance 2017). Decline of large diameter trees has negative impacts on nutrient cycling, water production, and biodiversity (Lindenmayer and Laurance 2017; Lindenmayer and Bowd 2022). Some tall, mature wet forests that inherently contain a higher proportion of larger-diameter trees than dry forests (Koch *et al.* 2008; McLean *et al.* 2015), may be capable of mitigating against severe fires, as they retain higher moisture levels and greater separation of vertical fuels (Zylstra 2018; Furlaud *et al.* 2021).

3.6.1.3 Dead standing trees

Dead standing trees meeting the following definition are permanently retained under the Coastal IFOA:

"a dead standing tree: (1) where the bark is fully separated from the sapwood due to decay and is greater than 30 centimetres in diameter at breast height and greater than three metres tall; or (2) that has hollows" (NSW EPA 2020).

Dead standing trees contribute to forest structural diversity and provide sources of decaying wood that ultimately influences nutrient cycling in forests (NSW TSSC 2003). Dead standing trees that contain hollows provide habitat for hollow-dependent fauna and hollows in dead trees are preferred by some marsupials (Goldingay 2011).

3.6.2 Temporarily retained trees

Some trees are retained during and at completion of the forestry operation under the Coastal IFOA in order to provide resources for koalas, gliders and birds (NSW EPA 2018). However, these 'temporarily **retained trees**' are not required to be retained in the next cutting cycle, e.g. different trees may be selected depending on operational circumstances.

Published: August 2023

3.6.2.1 Koala browse trees

Koala browse trees meeting the following definition are retained during and at completion of the forestry operation under the Coastal IFOA:

1. In the *Upper North East Subregion* and *Lower North East Subregion*, means a live tree which may be selected for retention under condition 65 of the *approval* that is:

(a) greater than 20 centimetres *DBH* or 22 centimetres at *DSHOB*; (b) live and healthy; and (c) of the following tree *species*:

(i) primary browse trees -

Tallowwood (*E. microcorys*); Swamp Mahogany (*E. robusta*); or Red Gums (*E. tereticornis, glaucina, seeana* + hybrids); or

(ii) secondary browse trees –

Grey Gums (*E. biturbinata*, *propinqua*, *punctata*, *canaliculata*); Grey Box (*E. moluccana*, *largeana*); Peppermints (*E. radiata*, *acaciaformis*); Sydney Blue Gum (*E. saligna*); Ribbon Gum (*E. nobilis*, *viminalis*); Messmate (*E. obliqua*); Snow Gum (*E. pauciflora*); Mountain Gum (*E. dalrympleana*); or New England Blackbutt (*E. andrewsii*, *campanulata*).

2. In all other *Coastal IFOA subregions*, means a live healthy tree, greater than 30 centimetres *DBH* of the following tree *species*:

Eucalyptus longifolia; E. cypellocarpa; E. globoidea; E. mannifera; E. rossii; E. viminalis; E. tereticornis; E. amplifolia; E. bosistoana; E. maidenii; E. muelleriana; E. tricarpa; E. punctata; E. nortonii; or E. eugenioides" (NSW EPA 2020).

Prescribed numbers of koala browse trees are required to be retained during and at completion of the forestry operation under the Coastal IFOA (NSW EPA 2018). Koala browse trees are retained primarily to: "ensure viable populations of koalas are maintained in landscapes" (NRC 2016; Law *et al.* 2022). Koala browse trees represent live, healthy trees of specific sizes and species, which depends on the location of a forestry operation within the Coastal IFOA management area and the probability of koala occurrence (see NSW EPA 2020b).

Published: August 2023

3.6.2.2 Glider sap feed trees

Trees meeting the following definition are retained during and at completion of the forestry operation under the Coastal IFOA:

A living tree that exhibits incisions, including V-notch incisions, made by a *Petaurus* species for feeding on exuding sap which has not been fully occluded by bark or scar tissue" (NSW EPA 2020).

3.6.2.3 Glossy black-cockatoo feed trees

Trees meeting the following definition are retained during and at completion of the forestry operation under the Coastal IFOA:

"A tree of an *Allocasuarina* spp. which shows evidence of glossy black-cockatoo feeding by the presence of characteristic crushed cones at, or around, its base" (NSW EPA 2020).

Glossy black-cockatoos (*Calyptorhynchus lathami*) feed on the seeds within the cones produced by *Allocasuarina spp*. and less commonly *Casuarina spp*. (Glossy Black Conservancy 2022). Feed trees are identified by the presence of crushed cones at or around the base of the tree (NSW EPA 2020).

3.6.2.4 Nectar feed trees

Trees meeting the following definition are retained during and at completion of the forestry operation under the Coastal IFOA:

Means a live tree which may be selected for retention under condition 64 of the *approval* that is:

- 1. mature or late mature;
- 2. is live and healthy; and
- 3. of the following tree *species*:

(a) Alpine Ash *Eucalyptus delegatensis*;
(b) Mountain Gum *E. dalrympleana*;
(c) Manna Gum *E. viminalis*;
(d) Black Sallee *E. stellulata*;
(e) Snow Gum *E. pauciflora*;
Eurabbie *E. bicostata*;
(f) stringybark species *E. agglomerata*, *E. globoidea*, *E. muelleriana*;
(g) red stringybark *E. macrorhyncha*;
(h) needlebark stringybark *E.*

planchoniana; Tyndale stringybark E. tindaliae; (i) white mahogany E. acmenoides, E. umbra, E. carnea; (j) ironbark species E. siderophloia, E. paniculata, E. tricarpa, E. fergusonii, E. placita, E. ancophila, E. fusiformis, E. caleyi, E. crebra, E. fibrosa. E. tetrapleura, E. sideroxylon, E.ophitica; (k) River Peppermint E. elata; (l) Mountain Grey Gum E. cypellocarpa; (m) Maiden's Gum E. maidenii; (n) Forest Red Gum E. tereticornis; Swamp Mahogany E. robusta; (o) Swamp Gum E. ovata; (p) spotted gum species Corymbia spp.; (q) bloodwood species Corymbia spp.; or (r) box species E. rudderi, E. conica, E. molucanna, E. largeana, E. rummeryi, E. melliodora and E. albens.

A minimum of five nectar trees per hectare of Net Harvest Area are required to be retained during and at completion of the forestry operation, where the harvest area contains or is within close proximity to known records of swift parrots (*Lathamus discolor*) or regent honeyeaters (*Anthochaera phrygia*) (NSW EPA 2018).

3.7 Impacts of injuries to retained trees and their functions

Impacts by machinery or other trees during forestry operations can cause injuries to trees such as uprooting, broken stems, crown injuries and injuries to the bole or roots. Studies focused on the categorisation and quantification of different types of injuries caused by forestry activities and their impacts on trees are scarce in the Australian context (but see Whitford and Williams 2001; Binns and Bridges 2003; Watson et al. 2020). Binns and Bridges (2003) observed and classified tree injuries related to forestry activities in the Eden area, which included felled/knocked over trees, broken boles (e.g. crown destroyed, <50% of bole length remaining), partial or entire crown injuries and bole injuries affecting the cambium. Watson et al. (2020) attempted to utilise this classification system in a study of harvesting and fire effects on tree mortality in the Eden forests, but reduced the classification to a binary predictor (i.e. with or without mechanical injury) due to a lack of samples. Watson et al. (2020) found that trees sustaining a mechanical injury and then subject to multiple fires over ~30 years were on average 20% more likely to experience mortality than trees without an injury, although this estimate varied with tree diameter and harvesting intensity (i.e. amount of basal area removed). For example, the probability of mortality increased to 40-50% for smaller trees (<20 cm DBH) with average harvesting intensity (basal area removed = $17 \text{ m}^2/\text{ha}$) and by approximately 40% for intense harvesting (35 m²/ha) compared to light harvesting (5 m²/ha). Studies from other

Published: August 2023

global regions exist that provide more comprehensive classification and quantification of forestry operation-related tree injuries and their consequences; although they are not representative of Australian forests or forestry techniques, they may still provide a framework for future research (see Jackson *et al.* 2002; Medjibe *et al.* 2011). These studies provide significant insights into the relationships between harvesting, roads and skid trails and the types and levels of injuries sustained by retained trees. Similar research in Australian forest systems would be required to fully evaluate the impacts of injuries on tree function and mortality.

Much of the evidence for tree injuries in NSW forests managed under the Coastal IFOA is preliminary and previous research in the Australian context has involved more intensive silvicultural systems (e.g. clearfell or low retention) and now superseded management protocols (Gibbons 1999; Gibbons et al. 2000a; Whitford and Williams 2001; Gibbons et al. 2008). Forestry-related impacts to habitat trees, such as their net loss, destruction or injuries leading to mortality are now considered to be managed effectively at federal-level, to the extent that it is not considered a key threatening process (DCCEEW 2023). However, loss of hollowbearing trees, which are a significant component of the retained tree cohort under the IFOA, is considered a key threatening process within NSW (NSW TSSC 2007). For example, forestry activities that cause damage to hollow-bearing trees have previously been identified as a potential cause of their premature mortality and eventual depletion as a wildlife resource (DSE 1988; NSW TSSC 2007). However, modern forestry prescriptions, harvesting techniques and regulatory protocols have since evolved in NSW. For example, the Coastal IFOA aims to minimise impacts and conserve habitat using integrated multi landscape-level conservation and management methods (see 1.3.1) (NRC 2016; NSW EPA 2020). Ultimately, any injury that exposes conductive tissues or heartwood will have some impact on the physiological function of a tree, which has the potential to be exacerbated by fire and/or insects and decay and may reduce resilience to future disturbances. Close proximity of trees to harvesting tracks is a key risk factor for injuries to retained trees (Jackson et al. 2002). Changes to tree function and likelihood of mortality resulting directly or indirectly from injury sustained during forestry operations has not been adequately quantified in Australian forestry systems, and long-term monitoring of trees that have sustained injuries is lacking. It would be of considerable benefit to both scientific and industry knowledge if injuries to retained trees were monitored over time, for example during each forestry operation, to quantify the potential for increased risk of tree mortality and changes to tree function.

Published: August 2023

3.7.1 Knocked over / uprooted / broken or snapped tree

A tree is no longer free-standing when its roots have become detached from the ground, and it is either leaning on other trees or has fallen to the ground. In this case the tree is now either coarse woody debris or in an intermediary state prior to becoming coarse woody debris. Trees may no longer be free-standing if accidentally knocked over during a forestry operation, either directly by machinery or due to being knocked over by another felled tree. Trees may also be no longer free-standing due to wind, storms, fire, insects and decay. Evidence from Western Australian forests suggests that tree injuries caused by forestry operations accounts for less than 1% of fallen trees, with fire, termites and wind more likely to be the ultimate cause of tree fall (Whitford and Williams 2001). However, fallen trees are unlikely to recover, and in addition are rarely recorded to have an intact root plate (Whitford and Williams 2001), so may be at least partially disconnected from their water supply. Therefore, fallen and uprooted trees that initially remain alive are likely to be especially vulnerable to further external stressors, such as drought, fire or biotic attack.

Breakage or snapping of the main bole is likely to result in the complete loss of the crown, leaving only a partial bole or stump. However, there is limited evidence that such injuries actually occur due to harvesting in eucalypt forestry systems and mortality rates are likely to be low when they do occur (Whitford and Williams 2001), potentially due to the ability of many eucalypt species to vigorously resprout new foliage and stems following extreme disturbance (Burrows 2013). For example, 'topkill', i.e. loss of the above-ground live biomass may not result in the mortality of a retained tree as it may be able to resprout new stems but the function of that retained tree could potentially be lost. Loss of the crown/breakage of the main bole (i.e. 'topkill') may occur due to impact by machinery, impact from another felled tree or due to wind, storms, fire, insects and decay. This type of injury includes where the main stem has broken near the base due to a previous injury/defect. Animals that rely on foliage, flowers or seeds in the canopy would no longer have access to these resources once the canopy has been lost. Sap flow in trees experiencing this type of injury will be severely diminished or non-existent (Cunningham et al. 2009). Gliders, for example, demonstrably feed on trees with higher sap flow, and this level of injury would drastically reduce the utility of the tree to gliders (Goldingay 1991). The loss of the entire crown would necessitate resprouting in order to resume photosynthesis and replenish carbohydrate stores. These resprouts are usually established within a year following a disturbance, although the

Final Report

severity of the disturbance and potential compounding stressors may lead to longer recovery timelines (Losso *et al.*; 2022, Nichols *et al.*, unpub) or mortality. Species that have limited capacity to resprout (**Table 1**) are unlikely to survive this level of injury.

3.7.2 Mechanical crown injury

Crown injury may occur due to impact by machinery, impact from another felled tree or due to wind and storms. The majority of eucalypt species are capable of vigorous epicormic resprouting and should be able to withstand crown injuries, e.g. mortality rates in resprouting eucalypt forests are typically low following severe disturbances that affect the canopy (Vivian *et al.* 2008; Catry *et al.* 2013; Collins 2020). The extent of crown injury will likely determine whether a tree can still provide the function for which it was retained.

Permanently retained live trees (i.e. hollow-bearing and giant trees) are likely to continue performing their function despite significant crown injury if they meet the following conditions: (i) they are a species capable of epicormic resprouting and; (ii) the injury has not resulted in the complete loss of the attributes for which the tree was retained, i.e. loss of hollows. Damaged crowns could potentially create future conditions beneficial to some fauna, e.g. branch-end hollows, which may be formed by branch breakage, exhibit higher occupancy of gliders in comparison to hollows at other location in the tree (Hofman et al. 2022), and glossy black-cockatoos and sugar gliders (Petaurus brevices) may prefer trees with simplified canopies (Lindenmayer et al. 1991; North et al. 2020). Temporarily retained trees that acquire significant injury to their crown may experience a reduction in their capacity to perform their function in the short-term or permanently, due to severely reduced sap flow, reductions in hydraulic capacity, and altered gas exchange dynamics (Brodribb et al. 2010). For example, Cunningham et al. (2009) applied insecticide to 16 dry woodland eucalypts (Eucalyptus blakelyi) and found that a corresponding amount of untreated trees experienced a halving of sap flow velocity due to a 20% reduction in leaf area likely caused by insect herbivory. Trees experiencing this level of sap flow reduction may be unable to support glider foraging (Goldingay 1991). Below is a summary of the requirements of other fauna in terms of canopy condition.

Leaf nutrient content, availability, palatability, and leaf composition are the predominant factors which drive koala browsing and tree preference (Moore and Foley 2000).

Final Report

Some early work suggested that koalas preferentially used trees with larger amounts of foliage (e.g. >301 kg estimated dry weight) in the canopy (Hindell 1978) and selected larger emergent trees with extensive crowns (Jurskis and Potter 1997). However, more recent work on the NSW North Coast suggests that although koalas use trees of most sizes, they preferentially use medium-sized trees (20-60 cm DBH), varying with time of day and gender (Law *et al.* 2022). Tree diameter, foliage density, crown depth and size are generally reliable predictors of leaf area in eucalypt forests (Whitford 1991), which suggests that koalas preference for medium-sized trees implies that they also prefer medium-sized, rather than large canopies.

In a Victorian study, koalas showed reduced preference for their highly favoured *Eucalyptus ovata* feed trees when the trees developed poor canopy condition (e.g. >50% loss of canopy leaves) due to defoliation caused by overbrowsing (Martin 1985). Defoliation and leaf browning are also characteristics of drought stress, so this behaviour may also serve to avoid drought affected leaves with a lower relative moisture content (Clifton 2010). However, koalas will forage in trees recovering from severe disturbance and will readily consume epicormic regrowth (Martin 1985; Matthews *et al.* 2007; NRC 2022b). Within the northern Coastal IFOA management area, many key koala browse tree species such as Sydney blue gum (*Eucalyptus saligna*), small-fruited grey gum (*E. propinqua*), northern grey ironbark (*E. siderophloia*) and red mahogany (*E. resinifera*) have been observed to produce post-fire epicormic regrowth that contains leaves with higher nutritional quality than mature pre-fire leaves, which may benefit koalas (NRC 2022b). More generally, transpiration per unit leaf area is known to increase in resprouting eucalypt leaves, resulting in higher leaf water content (Nolan *et al.* 2014).

Some koala populations are reported to have high fidelity to trees within their home ranges, although these populations were either introduced and reliant on relatively small patches of suitable food trees (Whisson *et al.* 2016), were isolated due to being on islands (Marsh *et al.* 2013) or were in areas where koala occurrence is generally restricted to small occurrences of higher productivity forest (Gallahar *et al.* 2021). Under these circumstances, koala tree re-use can be within the range 22-37% of sightings (Marsh *et al.* 2013; Gallahar *et al.* 2021). However, tree re-use may be less frequent in areas where koala density is lower (Matthews *et al.* 2007; Ellis *et al.* 2009) and particularly low where landscapes provide large-scale contiguous resources, such as forested areas of the NSW North Coast (Law *et al.* 2022; NRC 2022a). For example, Law *et al.* (2022) tracked 10 koalas over an average of seven

Final Report

months each across all seasons and found that they typically used trees once. Based on the evidence presented above, koalas appear to have low reliance on individual trees within the NSW North Coast region and so the occasional loss and subsequent replacement of browse trees following damage is unlikely to detrimentally impact koala populations. Koalas also appear to be capable of browsing in smaller trees with correspondingly small canopies and so it seems plausible that crown injuries resulting in non-complete removal of leaf-bearing branches may not pose a barrier to koala browsing. It is also plausible that crown injuries resulting in vigorous epicormic resprouting may provide koalas with a higher quality food resource, although this would likely depend on the extent of the initial injury (e.g. **damage** to koala habitat attributes other than food availability) and tree species.

Gliders show feed tree preference based on several tree characteristics, which may impact their use of retained trees. For example, yellow-bellied gliders (*Petaurus australis*) demonstrably prefer trees with higher sap flow (Goldingay 1991) and prefer trees within patches that have minimal numbers of dead trees and stumps, likely due to a higher proportion of potential forage (Eyre and Goldingay 2005). Yellow-bellied gliders have also been reported to spend almost half their time foraging for honeydew or arthropods under the bark of smoothbarked eucalypts (Kavanagh 1987a; Kavanagh 1987b). Sugar gliders (Petaurus breviceps) have been reported to prefer sparser canopies, likely due to the positive effect of greater light availability on sap production (Lindenmayer et al. 1991; Heise-Pavlov et al. 2018). Higher sap flow has also been linked with higher foliar nutrients, which is a significant predictor of greater glider occurrence (Smith et al. 2007). Some dry woodland eucalypt species are likely to experience a substantial reduction (e.g. up to 50%) or pause in sap flow once around 20% in the crown have been lost due to insect herbivory (Cunningham et al. 2009). However, reported ambient sap flow rates appear to be variable among eucalypt species, individual trees and between studies and methods (Goldingay 1991; Barrett et al. 1995; Bleby et al. 2004; Zeppel et al. 2004) and could potentially be higher in coastal species, so it is not clear whether the magnitude of reductions in sap flow due to disturbance can be generalised. Further, if a eucalypt species is capable of epicormic resprouting, then following crown injury the sap resource may only be diminished until new leaves begin producing photosynthate (Burrows 2013). For example, full epicormic recovery of canopy leaf weight following the loss of all live leaves can occur within eight months in some resprouting eucalypt species (Gill 1978). Overall, crown injury will likely have some impact on sap flow and subsequently may affect the usage of trees

by gliders, although the available evidence is likely inadequate for defining an accurate threshold for **damage** (see **4.2.1** and **4.2.2** for further discussion on this).

Glossy black-cockatoos are reliant on seed from *Allocasuarina* spp. as their primary food source (Joseph 1982; Clout 1989). Population decline of glossy black-cockatoos has been attributed to loss and degradation of feeding habitat, largely due to human impacts (Glossy Black Conservancy 2022). Glossy black-cockatoos likely select trees on the basis of profitability, which at the highest level involves remote visual cues such as fruit abundance (Sallabanks 1993; Crowley and Garnett 2001), tree height and tree diameter (Pepper et al. 2000; North et al. 2020), followed by proximal cues such as the percentage of seed containing kernels, kernel weight/cone weight, seed mass per cone and food value (Pepper 1997; Crowley and Garnett 2001; North et al. 2020). Glossy black-cockatoos are highly selective of the trees they feed on, utilising only around 16% of cone bearing trees in some cases (Robinson and Paull 2009; Partelli-Feltrin et al. 2023). Trees which are of higher profitability and preferred as feed will generally have larger crops of cones (Clout 1989), and can be recognised by greater numbers of cones fragments near the tree base (Robinson and Paull 2009). A large-scale study by Clout (1989) in the NSW South Coast region examined foraging in Allocasuarina littoralis trees by glossy black-cockatoos (i.e. extracting seeds from cones). In one survey area, over 50% of trees containing >200 cones (n = 388 trees) had been foraged by cockatoos, while only 15% of trees containing <200 cones (n = 1284) had been foraged. In another survey area, cockatoos were observed feeding in trees with >200 cones over 70% of the time (n = 46 trees) suggesting that cockatoos select for trees with higher cone crops (Clout 1989). Overall, this suggests that retaining larger feed trees with higher numbers of cones should be prioritised for glossy black cockatoos.

Feed tree appearance also has a significant influence on whether it will be chosen as a feed tree. For example, *A. littoralis* feed trees exhibit significantly greater trunk diameter and height, and sparser canopy than co-occurring non-feed trees (North *et al.* 2020). This trend is not observed in *A. torulosa* feed trees, which show a tendency towards having a larger canopy than surrounding tress. This preference may be due to different investments in cones or germination rates that determines canopy to cone ratio.

The key feed species *A. littoralis* is an obligate seeder and unable to recover via resprouting (Lunt 1998). This means that any injury resulting in complete defoliation is likely

Published: August 2023

to remove the food resource from an individual tree permanently. However, *A. littoralis* is known to readily colonise disturbed areas and can reach high densities, so it seems unlikely that occasional loss and subsequent replacement of browse trees following damage will detrimentally impact cockatoo populations in the long-term.

Regent honeyeaters have a general tendency to forage in emergent or taller trees with larger DBH, within areas containing high numbers of large flowering trees and high nectar abundance (Webster and Menkhorst 1992; Menkhorst *et al.* 1999; Oliver *et al.* 1999; Kennedy and Tzaros 2005). In woodland areas, regent honeyeaters are also more likely to be present where there is higher canopy cover, e.g. approximately 50% probability of occurrence at 50% canopy cover at the site level (Oliver 1998; Oliver *et al.* 1999). Within these areas, they tend to select for tall trees with full canopies and few signs of decline (Oliver 2000). In some areas, canopy cover shows documented declines (Nolan *et al.* 2021b; Losso *et al.* 2022b) or projected declines (Angel and Bradley 2021) in response to decreasing rainfall.

Swift parrots have also been widely reported to forage in larger trees (Kennedy and Overs 2001; Kennedy and Tzaros 2005; Brereton *et al.* 2016), particularly those that flower more profusely than surrounding trees (Brereton *et al.* 2016) and typically forage in the upper canopy (Hingston and Potts 2005). Swift parrots have also been reported to have high site fidelity across many locations in southeastern Australia (Saunders *et al.* 2007; Saunders and Heinsohn 2008). However, there is at least one example in Victoria where neither fidelity nor a link between eucalypt flowering and swift parrot foraging was detected (Mac Nally and Horrocks 2000). Overall, conservation of remnant patches of suitable forest within cleared agricultural landscapes is likely to be important for the survival of swift parrots (Saunders and Tzaros 2011). Nonetheless, it has been recommended that forestry prescriptions include retention of all trees 60 cm DBH or greater, along with a minimum of five trees per ha in a range of smaller size classes, to ensure future food resource availability (Saunders and Tzaros 2011).

3.7.3 Mechanical bole injury

Bole injuries may occur due to impact by machinery, impact from another felled tree or fire and its interactions with termites and decay. There are three levels of organisation of a woody stem: protective bark, conductive and growth tissues (phloem, xylem, cambium), and dead

Published: August 2023

heartwood. Smaller injuries may affect the bark only or bark and conductive/growth tissues over a relatively small surface area, while more substantial injuries may affect bark and conductive/growth tissues over a wider surface area, which may impact the transport of water, nutrients and solutes and reduce the amount of structurally important wood supporting the bole. For example, a major reduction in horizontal cross-sectional area on the main bole has been linked to an increase in the probability of tree failure and collapse due to structural weakness (Gibbons et al. 2000a; Whitford and Williams 2001; Bluff 2016). Whitford and Williams (2001) sampled 2526 retained habitat trees and logs in Western Australian eucalypt forests and found that 194 had collapsed. Hollowing out of the tree base due to fire alone, or due to fire and its interactions with termites/decay was identified as the primary cause of stem collapse. For collapsed trees, the mean loss of cross-sectional area was 62%, and 72% of collapsed trees had lost a cross-sectional area of 50% or more. Only 7% of standing trees had lost a crosssectional area of 50% or more. Only four trees were determined to have collapsed as a direct result of being injured during a forestry operation (Whitford and Williams 2001). Bluff (2016) also found that loss of cross-sectional area of the main stem was a reliable predictor of tree collapse, e.g. for each unit increase in loss of cross-sectional area the probability of collapse increased by 1.35.

Another method of diagnosing the likelihood of stem collapse in hollowed trees is to calculate the ratio of remaining solid wood-to-total radius, which assumes a circular cylinder (Mattheck *et al.* 1994). For example, if the ratio falls below 0.35 then the stem is likely to collapse (Mattheck *et al.* 1994). This metric was tested and confirmed to be accurate in a study of retained eucalypts on logged sites (Gibbons *et al.* 2000a). However, the ratio value at which stem collapse occurs has been shown to differ from 0.35 when other pipe shapes are considered, e.g. oval, and can vary due to species (Huang *et al.* 2017). The more practical method of assessment during forestry operations is estimation of the remaining cross-sectional area.

There may be instances where there has been minimal loss of cross-sectional area (e.g. the bole is still structurally sound), but there has been significant loss of bark and active vascular tissues (e.g. sapwood) due to impact with machinery or fallen trees. Unfortunately, the body of evidence assessing how much vascular tissue is required to sustain specific tree functions, such as providing leaves, sap, nectar and seeds over the long term is limited. The effects of these injuries can vary substantially depending on the amount of vascular connectivity remaining between the roots and shoot and the depth of the injury (e.g. loss of

Final Report

phloem tissues versus xylem tissues). Many species are also capable of healing (occluding) wounds over time (Gill 1980; Smith et al. 2006; Zuhair et al. 2010; Moore 2013; Ow et al. 2013; Tavankar et al. 2019). For example, the closure rates of experimental stem wounds for the obligate seeder Eucalyptus regnans are known to range between 1.3-1.5 cm per year and therefore an injury 10 cm wide may fully occlude within 7-8 years (White and Kile 1993; 1994). In another example, Smith et al. (2006) tracked the closure rates of cut live branches of varying diameters for E. grandis, E. pilularis, E. dunni and E. coleziana and found that all species were able to fully occlude wounds of approximately 20 cm diameter within 2-4 years. There is, however, potential for disturbances such as fire and drought, or biotic attack to slow or prevent occlusion or exacerbate injuries. For example, in a study of wound occlusion in the obligate seeder *Pinus ponderosa* which is native to North America, Baker and Dugan (2013) found that for trees experiencing two sequential fire scar injuries, the overall size of the injury was 38% larger than trees experiencing only one injury and subsequently the estimated time to wound closure increased by 20-25 years. This suggests that the wound occlusion trajectory for trees with mechanical bole injuries is strongly influenced by subsequent disturbances. However, fire scars typically affect the leeward side of the tree (Gutsell and Johnson 1996), so the location of mechanically-caused bole injuries would likely need to align with the probable location of naturally-forming fire scars in order for compounding temporal effects to be realised. If both types of injuries (mechanical and fire-related) occurred at different locations on the bole there would likely still be cumulative impacts on conductive and structural tissues.

Much research investigating the effects of bole injuries on tree health relates to fire scars and intentional agroforestry/horticultural methods such as ringbarking or stem girdling. While these methods are not utilised in modern Australian forestry systems, knowledge of their effects can provide general insights into how trees respond to stem injuries. For example, ringbarking/girdling can be used to manipulate tree growth, stimulate reproduction and increase fruit/seed yield and quality in commercial species such as walnut, citrus, conifers (Wheeler *et al.* 1985; Woods 1989; Rivas *et al.* 2007; McFadyen *et al.* 2013; Christopoulos *et al.* 2021). This occurs because girdling of the phloem tissues leads to accumulation of photosynthates in the tree above the injury and therefore increases the availability of carbohydrates in the canopy while maintaining transport of water from root to shoot, as the xylem is left intact (Högberg *et al.* 2001; Moore 2013). However, complete girdling of the

Published: August 2023

phloem in some species is known to result in eventual mortality (Percival and Smiley 2015; Fajstavr *et al.* 2017).

Ringbarking/girdling of the phloem in *Myrtaceae* may be less likely to kill trees compared to other angiosperms due to anomalous growth of phloem, e.g. embedded within the xylem (Carlquist 2013; Moore 2013; Rajput *et al.* 2022). As such, some eucalypts are known to survive extreme (e.g. 90%) or complete ringbarking/girdling (Priestley 2004) and in most cases may be able to resprout from the region below the injury due to the presence of carbohydrates stored in the lignotuber. Injuries that penetrate into the deeper layer of xylem-containing sapwood will interrupt water flow and will likely result in rapid mortality if the vascular tissue is completely severed around the circumference of the tree (McLuckie and McKee 1954; Taiz and Zeiger 2002; Moore 2013). For example, complete ringbarking of the phloem and sapwood was historically used for killing eucalypts at large-scale to convert landscapes for industrial purposes (Stubbs 1998).

Where transport of water is concerned, double sawcut experiments in temperate deciduous species have shown that trees can survive interruptions of more than 50% of the stem sapwood due to redundancy in the xylem vessel network, although in these cases the saw cuts must be made an appropriate distance from each other based on the xylem anatomy (vessel length) of the tree species in question (Tyree and Zimmermann 2002). While these experiments have not been performed for eucalypt species, it is very likely that they are similarly resilient to loss of vascular tissue caused by mechanical injury. However, major reductions in sapwood area (e.g. >50%) could potentially make a tree more vulnerable to mortality during future disturbances such as: (i) drought, by reducing hydraulic function and introducing air entry points; (ii) fire, by accelerating fire scar development that can lead to stem collapse and (iii) termites and fungi, by creating access points for insects and decay that consume wood and reduce structural integrity. For example, fire scars and the associated compounding processes implicated in their development (i.e. subsequent fires, termites, decay) have been identified as an important mechanism of tree mortality and stem collapse across a range of eucalypt species and other fire-adapted trees globally (Whitford and Williams 2001; Gibbons et al. 2008; Bendall et al. 2022; Shive et al. 2022). While effects on collapse and mortality have largely been discussed above (see 3.7.3), other potential impacts of bole injuries on tree functions are discussed in more detail below.

3.7.3.1 Impacts of bole injuries on tree function

Fire scars are a type of naturally-occurring bole injury and their effects on tree function may closely resemble those of mechanical injuries, as both types of injuries typically result in the removal of an area of protective bark and conductive/structural tissues. Evidence for how such injuries may affect tree function comes from studies of redwoods (Sequoiadendron giganteum, Sequoia sempervirens) in northern hemisphere temperate forests. Sequoias are extremely longlived (e.g. thousands of years), experience regular fire and have subsequently developed a range of adaptations to cope with fire, such as extremely thick bark near the tree base (e.g. more than half a metre), and some observed capacity for epicormic resprouting (O'Hara et al. 2008; Sillett et al. 2015). The development of a condition known as 'snag top' (i.e. partial crown mortality) and a reduction in the amount of foliage has been linked to the presence and size of fire scar injuries (Rundel 1973; Sillett et al. 2015). For example, Rundel (1973) sampled >2000 giant sequoias and found that 85.7% of trees with intact crowns and 75.1% of trees with normal foliage levels did not have a fire scar. In contrast, trees that did have a fire scar were more likely to have partial crown mortality and reduced foliage levels and the proportion of these tree increased with fire scar size, e.g. for trees with large fire scars 47.7% had partial crown mortality and 36.3% had reduced foliage levels. More recently, Sillett et al. (2015) developed models of tree growth, health and form in relation to a broad range of variables including fire scar presence. Sillett et al. (2015) found that >90% of giant sequoias and around 50% of coast redwoods with fires scars had partial canopy mortality. Fire scars are thought to impact upon canopy function by decreasing the amount of conductive tissue available, resulting in water stress in the upper canopy that causes branches to die (Rundel 1973; Sillett et al. 2015). Studies of fire-scarred white oak (Quercus alba) suggest that overall potential hydraulic conductivity (derived from measurements of xylem vessels) is significantly reduced for two years following the formation of fire scars, regardless of the size of fire scars (Dee et al. 2019). Such losses of hydraulic conductivity often result in reduction in leaf area, as trees must balance evaporative surface area of leaves with the capacity to supply water through the xylem (Tyree and Zimmermann 2002). A recent review of fire-related injuries on tree physiology suggests that fire-caused tissue necrosis is a key process impacting tree function and that carbon starvation and hydraulic impairment may result through additional linked impacts from drought and biotic attack (Bar et al. 2019). However, the specific processes that link these mechanisms of tree functional decline are not yet fully understood (Bar et al. 2019).

Final Report

While eucalypts have received less attention in this research area, current work suggests that they are capable of recovering from significant hydraulic impairment (i.e. xylem embolism) in their water transport tissues (average of 78% loss of the xylem to embolism), although embolism mortality thresholds are difficult to define precisely (Barigah *et al.* 2021; Gauthey *et al.* 2022). Recent field measurements suggest that some eucalypts may lose substantial xylem functionality and still be capable of recovery within a few years if conditions remain favourable during the recovery period (Losso *et al.* 2022, Nichols *et al.* unpub).

In relation to immediate mortality (see **3.7.3**), there is no clear evidence to suggest that anything less than 100% separation of phloem tissue between root and shoot, or anything less than 80% loss of active xylem tissue, will result in immediate stem mortality in eucalypts. However, in relation to impacts on tree function, the northern hemisphere studies described above suggest that trees with a basal fire scar, which are generally comparable to mechanical bole injuries, are likely to experience impacts on their function, such as partial canopy mortality and a reduction in leaves. Therefore, **retained trees** could potentially experience loss of crown branches and/or leaves (and therefore reductions in sap flow and nectar production) due to bole injuries, although the magnitude of functional decline for eucalypts is currently uncertain⁵. Estimation would be possible if trees with injuries are monitored through time, or retrospectively studied, to assess how additional factors such as fire, drought and biotic attack influence the progression of injuries and their subsequent impact on tree function.

⁵ While beyond the scope of this review, data currently exists that would allow for an analysis of eucalypt canopy condition as predicted by trees with and without fire scars. In relation to mechanical injuries, there would be potential for a retrospective study of tree responses to historical injuries (see **Appendix B**), provided that the date of injury could be estimated and other environmental factors are known, e.g. fire history, harvesting history. One major challenge for such a study is that injuries heal over time and may become undetectable, so the study may be temporally constrained to recently harvested areas (e.g. the last 20 years). Fire in the intervening period between mechanical injury and sampling could also confound tree responses, e.g. a mechanical injury that has been severely burnt could be similar in appearance to a fire scar. Thus, developing a method to differentiate fire scars vs mechanical injuries that have been burnt would be required, and could be based on the shape and edge contour characteristics. For example, while fire scars typically form an 'A-frame' shape at the tree base, mechanical injuries are likely to be much more variable and may contain jagged edges from machinery impact (see **Figures** in **Section 2**).

3.7.4 Insects and fungi

Final Report

Investigations into levels of insect damage and fungal rot in eucalypts indicate that fire scars predispose trees to fungal infection, which creates conditions suitable for the founding of insect colonies (Perry et al. 1985; Hopkins et al. 2005). The relationship between fire scarring, subsequent fungal infection and insect colonisation has long been recognised in the forestry industry and has been attributed to significant economic losses due to timber damage and tree mortality (Stickel and Marco 1936; Harris 1955; Greaves 1959). These linked processes can cause significant hollowing of the main bole (Werner and Prior 2007; N'Dri et al. 2011), increasing the likelihood of stem collapse (Mattheck et al. 1994). For example, Whitford and Williams (2001) found that termites, in combination with wind and fire effects, were directly responsible for stem collapse in 16% of fallen habitat trees (n = 194) retained on logged sites in Western Australia. Any injury to a tree that allows access to fungi and termites could potentially be detrimental to its longevity. However, insect activity is known to be an important contributor to the formation of hollows in eucalypts (Hopkins et al. 2005; Werner and Prior 2007; Woolley et al. 2018), which are critical to the survival of hollow-dependent fauna. Thus, termites present a conflicting management issue, as they are required for the development of hollow-bearing trees but may also reduce their longevity as permanently retained trees. In some ecosystems, termite abundance increases with mean temperature, and decreases with humidity, which means understanding their role is increasingly important in the face of climate change (Alamu and Ewete 2021).

3.7.5 Root injury

Injury to roots may occur due to impact by machinery or impact from another felled tree and may be exacerbated by fire and its interactions with termites and decay in similar ways to the processes described in **3.7.3** and **3.7.3.1**. The biomechanics of root structure, anchorage and stability of roots under stress is complex and quantification generally requires complete extraction of the organism to examine physical properties and breakage points (Coutts 1983; 1986). Major lateral roots, particularly on the windward side of the tree may have a disproportionally important role in providing anchorage and stability (Coutts 1986; Yang *et al.* 2014). Root injuries are likely to occur when soils around the tree base are compacted by machinery (Shepperd 1993a). Avoiding repeatedly driving over the root zone, especially in wet

Final Report

weather, could reduce injuries due to root zone compaction (Moehring and Rawls 1970; Shepperd 1993a; Han and Kellogg 2000). For example, soil compaction is likely to lead to root injury in aspen (sogme *Populus* spp.) (Shepperd 1993b). Soil compaction around eucalypt roots has been linked to reduced root growth, nutrient absorption (Silva et al. 2018) and water infiltration (Clemente et al. 2005). Soil compaction can also result in topsoil displacement and profile disturbance, which could potentially affect tree growth (Williamson and Neilsen 2003). Introduction or spread of pathogens such as Phytophthora cinnamomi can potentially occur in forests due to the introduction of infected materials associated with roads (e.g. soils, gravel) or on equipment (Weste et al. 1973; Fagg et al. 1986; FPA 2019). The risk of this occurring is assumed to be controlled for via biosecurity protocols and other mechanisms, such as washing down vehicles and equipment before entering some areas, as per the site harvest plans (e.g. see FCNSW 2017). For the purposes of this review, the impacts of soil-borne pathogens on roots are encompassed and treated under the term 'decay'. Although root injury may be difficult to observe unless it occurs above-ground, attempts should be made to incorporate it into an assessment of damage to retained trees, as injuries to major roots could destabilise trees and present similar issues to that of bole injuries, such as increased vulnerability to fire, drought and biotic attack.

Final Report

4 Potential approach to assessment of risk to retained trees

4.1 Summary

This section describes a potential approach to assessment of the risk to the ongoing function of retained trees due to different types and levels of injury, using the best available evidence. This should be viewed as a qualitative assessment approach based on the literature and using the proposed decision matrix outlined in **Appendix A**. This assessment does not attempt to define damage thresholds for different types of injuries. Damage thresholds will be set through a separate process. It is recommended that monitoring and/or retrospective studies are undertaken to obtain data that could be used in a quantitative assessment that would improve the accuracy of any potential **damage** thresholds that are eventually set. In particular, monitoring tree injuries over time, e.g. following stochastic disturbances such as fire and drought, will be important, as these, and other environmental factors, may alter the trajectory of tree recovery and therefore impact tree function. Types of injuries and proposed categories for assessment covered in this section are summarised in **Table 2**. Each reference to a 'section' (e.g. Section A, B, C) refers to both the way that **Table 2** is organised and the way that **Appendix A** is organised.

SECTION		Α			В		С		
TYPE OF INJURY	Knocked over / uprooted / broken or snapped tree		Mechanical crown injury		Mechanical bole injury		Roots and termites		
PROPOSED CRITERIA	1	2	3	4	6	7	Condition A	Condition B	
	Not free- standing	Broken or snapped tree	Crown injury type A	Crown injury type B	Bole injury type A	Bole injury type B	Root injury	Termite infestation	

Table 2. Types of injury and proposed assessment criteria

Overall, the majority of injuries to **retained trees** shown to Western Sydney University staff during field visits in 2023 appear unlikely to inhibit tree function in the near term. Some examples of injuries were observed (however these were not necessarily formally **retained trees**) where a tree could potentially be **damaged**, depending on its intended function, e.g. an individual tree of a koala browse tree species that had lost a large part of its crown. While

Final Report

future disturbances such as fire, drought and biotic attack could worsen the current cohort of injuries, they are unable to be accounted for explicitly in this assessment. Rather, knowledge of how these types of natural disturbances/stressors impact tree function is implicitly part of the assessment, as much of the background information that informs the proposed methods (and therefore this assessment) is derived from literature relating to naturally-acquired injuries. This document outlines both observed and hypothetical examples of types of injuries that have occurred/could potentially occur due to forestry operations and are therefore included in the assessment. All definitions of terminology used in this assessment relating to **'retained tree'**, **'damage'**, 'function' or any types of **retained trees**, including uses with and without bold font follow the definitions and protocols described in sections **2**, **3.2** and **3.6**.

4.2 SECTION A

4.2.1 Type of injury: Knocked over / uprooted / broken or snapped tree

Criteria 1: Not free-standing

Description: The tree is no longer free-standing.



Figure 1. Hypothetical example of a knocked over tree meeting the definition of Criteria 1. This tree could potentially be unable to perform the function it was retained for.

Final Report

<u>Assessment:</u> Any category of **retained tree** meeting the definition of Criteria 1 could potentially be unable to perform the function it was retained for.

<u>Criteria 2:</u> Broken or snapped tree

<u>Description</u>: Crown of tree has been entirely broken off and only the main bole or a stump remains.



Figure 2. Hypothetical example of a temporarily retained feed tree with crown broken off, meeting the definition of Criteria 2 (i.e. 'broken or snapped tree'). This tree could potentially be unable to perform the function it was retained for.

<u>Assessment:</u> Some categories of **retained tree** meeting the definition of Criteria 2 could potentially be unable to provide the function they were retained for, including giant trees and hollow-bearing trees matching the species list in Section D of the **Appendix A**, i.e. species known to have limited capacity to resprout from epicormic buds in the stem or canopy (Nicolle 2006; Fairman *et al.* 2017). Koala browse trees and nectar feed trees that have lost their crown

are unlikely to continue performing their intended function, which is to provide resources to fauna during and at completion of the forestry operation. Total loss of the canopy would likely reduce sap flow (Cunningham *et al.* 2009) and diminish the utility of a tree for gliders (Goldingay 1991). Therefore, glider sap feed trees meeting the definition of Criteria 2 could potentially be unable to provide the function they were retained for. Tree categories meeting the definition of Criteria 2 may still provide the function of trees required to be retained include:

Giant tree or hollow-bearing tree <u>not</u> matching species list in Section D: Giant trees and hollow-bearing trees meeting the definition of Criteria 2 but do not match the species list in Section D are likely to be capable of successful resprouting following loss of tree crown. Breakage of the crown or stem may potentially lead to the development of further hollows (Gibbons *et al.* 2000b; Hofman *et al.* 2022). A tree may contain hollows in the main bole or tree base that are unaffected by loss of the upper part of the tree. Therefore, provided the tree can resprout and still meets the definition of a retained tree it should continue performing its function. An exception to this could be that the tree also meets the definition of criteria in Section B and/or C.

Dead standing tree: A dead standing tree is defined under the Coastal IFOA as:

"a dead standing tree: (1) where the bark is fully separated from the sapwood due to decay and is greater than 30 centimetres in diameter at breast height and greater than three metres tall; or (2) that has hollows" (NSW EPA 2020).

Therefore, if a dead standing tree has acquired an injury that meets Criteria 2 but: (i) is still greater than 30 cm DBH and greater than three metres tall; or (ii) still contains hollows, then it is likely to still perform its function. An exception to this could be that the tree also meets the definition of Criteria 6 in Section B.

4.2.2 Type of injury: Mechanical crown injury

Final Report

Criteria 3: Crown injury type A

<u>Description</u>: An amount above the damage threshold but less than 100% of crown branches have been broken off.

Criteria 4: Crown injury type B

<u>Description</u>: An amount below the damage threshold but some crown branches have been broken off.



Figure 3. Hypothetical example of a koala browse tree that had lost a large part of its crown due to impact by another felled tree. This tree could potentially meet the definition of Criteria 3 (i.e. 'crown injury type A'), depending on the damage threshold that is set. In that case, the tree would be unlikely to continue performing the function it was retained for.

Final Report



Figure 4. Hypothetical example of a nectar feed tree that had lost some branches from its crown due to impact by another felled tree. This tree does would be unlikely to meet the definition for Criteria 3 (i.e. 'crown injury type A') but could be likely to meet the definition for Criteria 4 ('crown injury type B'). In that case, the tree would be likely to continue to perform its function and its longevity is unlikely to be impacted.

Review of the impact of injuries to retained trees during forestry operations conducted under the Coastal IFOA in New South Wales

Published: August 2023

Final Report



Figure 5. Hypothetical example of a koala browse tree that had lost some branches from its crown due to impact by another felled tree. This tree would be unlikely to meet the definition for Criteria 3 (i.e. 'crown injury type A') but could be likely to meet the definition for Criteria 4 ('crown injury type B'). In that case, the tree would be likely to continue to perform its function and its longevity is unlikely to be impacted.

<u>Assessment:</u> Crown injury alone may not be sufficient evidence that a permanently **retained** giant **tree** or hollow-bearing **tree** is **damaged**. This follows the reasoning described for these types of retained trees under Criteria 2 (broken or snapped tree, **4.2.1**). Permanently **retained** giant **trees** or hollow-bearing **trees** that meet the definition of Criteria 3 should firstly be referred to Section B and then Section C. For example, in Section B, if bole injury is type A,

Final Report

Published: August 2023

then the tree is likely to collapse and longevity and function could potentially be impacted. However, if bole injury is type B or absent then the tree should be assessed for additional injuries (root injury, termite infestation) that could potentially increase the risk of tree collapse or impact upon tree function. If none of the Criteria in Section B apply or the Conditions in Section C have not been met then the tree is likely to persist and provide its function.

The following tree categories meeting the definition of Criteria 3 could potentially be unable to perform the function they were retained for: koala browse tree, glider sap tree, glossy black-cockatoo feed tree, nectar feed tree. The general rationale for **damaged trees** in these categories follows that crown loss of an amount above the damage threshold is equivalent to major loss of the currently available food resources, i.e. these resources are typically found in the crown of the tree and trees in these categories are required to perform their intended ecological function at the time of and during completion of the forestry operation. Details for each tree category are as follows:

Koala browse tree: There is no literature that quantifies koala tree use in the context of forestry operation-related crown injury or general crown condition that can confidently be used to define injury thresholds for koala browse trees. Specifically, there is insufficient evidence to suggest that koalas will not use trees with crown injuries, and they appear capable of browsing in smaller trees with reduced crowns. This implies that koalas may still browse in trees with type A or B crown injuries. Epicormic regrowth triggered by non-terminal injuries may be also nutritionally beneficial to koalas. This suggests that caution should be applied when considering replacement of koala browse trees due to crown injury. One management approach to this problem could be to only consider replacement of trees within a subset of type A crown injuries (e.g. the damage threshold is set higher for koala browse trees).

Glider sap tree: The evidence suggests that crown injury may have an impact on a **retained tree's** sap flow. In one study (Cunningham *et al.* 2009), as little as 20% reduction in leaf area due to insect herbivory reduced sap flow by half, which could potentially discourage gliders from visiting trees (Goldingay 1991). However, as described in **3.7.2** it not clear whether the studies of sap flow in woodland trees in

Final Report

Cunningham *et al.* (2009) can be generalised to the higher productivity forests relevant to the Coastal IFOA. If a **damage** threshold of 20% canopy loss was set for glider sap trees then this would result in the replacement of trees with only very light injuries to the crown. Sap flow reduction in such cases is only likely to be temporary (Gill 1978; Burrows 2013) and it has been demonstrated that gliders have high fidelity to sap trees (Goldingay 1991; Goldingay 2000), so it would seem potentially unwise to set such a low threshold until better evidence can be obtained. Based on the above it seems likely that the **damage** threshold for glider sap trees may lie somewhere above 20% crown loss but lower than that which may be set for koala browse trees.

Glossy black-cockatoo feed tree: The evidence suggests that larger feed trees with higher numbers of cones should be prioritised for glossy black cockatoos. A type A injury that results in loss of cone-bearing branches, to the extent that less than 200 cones remain on the tree, could potentially cause loss of function. However, consideration would need to be given to overall levels of food availability in the landscape. For example, the key browse species Allocasuarina littoralis is an obligate seeder that responds favourably to disturbance (i.e. mass germination, see Crowley 1986, Lunt 1998) and therefore the amount of cones/seeds available on trees is likely to be dependent on the maturity of the feed tree cohort with respect to fire history (e.g. some Allocasuarina species are obligate seeders). In some dry western forests, diminished rainfall during spring and autumn has been observed to detrimentally impact Allocasuarina cone production, with many trees failing to produce seed during severe drought (Cameron 2006), which may indicate that food resources fluctuate with climate. Given the issues with counting cones and that other cone/seed-related metrics would likely have similar uncertainties, another management approach to this problem could be to only consider replacement of trees that have a substantial proportion of their crown (i.e. type A crown injury), with the aim of maximising food resources for glossy black-cockatoos.

Nectar tree: The evidence suggests that providing the highest number of large nectar feed trees possible will be of greatest benefit to swift parrots and regent honeyeaters.

However, there is no evidence to suggest that these species do not utilise nectar trees with crown injuries. As long as some resources remain on the uninjured branches, trees may still be able to provide resources during and at completion of the forestry operation, although nectar production may be reduced or delayed for several seasons until the tree has recovered (Law *et al.* 2000; Hingston and Piech 2011). There is also evidence that some early regeneration forests are capable of producing substantial nectar at the stand-level, which suggests that harvesting effects on nectar production are not uniform across landscape and will depend on the eucalypt species present (Law and Chidel 2008). Therefore, a conservative approach to trees with crown injury could be applied, as follows:

- trees with type B crown injury (i.e. minority of crown branches broken off) are likely to be capable of providing adequate resources;
- (ii) trees with type A crown injury (i.e. majority of crown branches broken off) could have their function impacted, as the resource has been substantially diminished in the short-term and further nectar production may be temporarily reduced

4.3 SECTION B

4.3.1 Type of injury: Mechanical bole injury

<u>Criteria 6:</u> Bole injury type A (immediate/near-term loss of function)

Short description:

(1) Impact on cross-sectional area: An amount above the damage threshold of horizontal cross-sectional area of bole at widest point of injury has been removed but tree still standing OR

(2a) Impact on xylem or phloem: An amount above the damage threshold of active xylem tissues (sapwood) down to the level of the heartwood have been removed around circumference of bole OR

(2b) Impact on xylem or phloem: An amount above the damage threshold of phloem tissues down to the level of the sapwood have been removed around circumference of bole.

Final Report

Criteria 7: Bole injury type B (potential future loss of function)

Short description:

(1) Impact on cross-sectional area: An amount below the damage threshold of horizontal crosssectional area of bole at widest point of injury has been removed but tree still standing OR

(2) Impact on xylem or phloem: An amount below the damage threshold of active xylem tissues (sapwood) down to the level of the heartwood have been removed around circumference of bole.

Description (1) Impact on cross-sectional area: 'Bole injury' in the context of this assessment refers to injuries on all areas of the main bole below the level of the crown but above any exposed roots. 'Type A' injury to the bole is intrinsically likely to cause stem collapse due to the instability of a vertical cylindrical object once a substantial amount of the cross-sectional area (e.g. structural wood) has been removed (see below). Therefore, injuries that do not meet the definition of type A injury (i.e. 'type B') should be considered within the context of additional known agents of tree decline such as termites and decay-causing fungi, using Section C.

<u>Description (2)</u> Impact on xylem or phloem: There may be instances where there has been minimal loss of cross-sectional area (e.g. the bole is still structurally sound), but there has been significant loss of bark and vascular tissues (i.e. phloem, xylem) due to impact with machinery or fallen trees. The effects of these injuries can vary substantially depending on the amount of vascular connectivity remaining between the roots and shoot and the depth of the injury (e.g. loss of phloem tissues versus xylem tissues).

Final Report



Figure 6. This hypothetical example of a **retained tree** was injured due to machinery impact. Depending on the damage threshold that is set, the injured tree could potentially meet the criteria for Criteria 6 (i.e. 'bole injury type A') or Criteria 7 (i.e. 'bole injury type B') as it had lost some of its vascular tissue down to the level of the heartwood. This tree was healthy and growing with a complete crown, and substantial regrowth of the vascular tissues was evident, despite losing much vascular tissue due to the injury. Future fires, drought, insect attack and decay could exacerbate this injury. Therefore, if this tree was required to be retained permanently then the injury could be reassessed at the next forestry operation.

Final Report



Figure 7. This hypothetical example of a **retained tree** was injured due to machinery impact and may have initially met the definition of Criteria 7 (i.e. 'bole injury type B'). However, the tree has since partially occluded the injury and if assessed now it could potentially fall below the level of a type B injury, depending on the damage threshold that is set. Future fires, drought, insect attack and decay could exacerbate this injury. Therefore, if this tree was required to be retained permanently then the injury could be reassessed at the next forestry operation.

Final Report



Figure 9. This hypothetical example of a **retained tree** (same tree in both panels) was injured due to machinery impact. Depending on the damage threshold that is set, the injured tree could potentially meet the criteria for Criteria 6 (i.e. 'bole injury type A') or Criteria 7 (i.e. 'bole injury type B') as it had lost some of its vascular tissue down to the level of the heartwood. The injury appears to have initiated an epicormic resprouting response but otherwise the tree appears healthy and growing. Future fires, drought, insect attack and decay could exacerbate this injury. Therefore, if this tree was required to be retained permanently then the injury could be reassessed at the next forestry operation.

Final Report



Figure 10. Further hypothetical examples of **retained trees** that have sustained injuries due to impact by machinery. All of these examples would likely fall below the threshold for Criteria 7 (i.e. 'type B bole injury), but this would depend on the damage threshold that is set.



Figure 11. Examples of trees with bole injuries due to impact with machinery or fallen trees at various stages of wound occlusion, demonstrating the capacity of eucalypts to recover from bole injuries. (a) shows a **retained tree** that was impacted by a falling tree with partial occlusion; (b) and (c) show trees impacted by machinery with substantial occlusion; (d) shows a tree impacted by machinery that has fully occluded.

Document No: D23/3150 Status: FINAL Page 53 of 75

Final Report

Assessment: There is evidence that trees may become structurally unstable once the majority of the cross-sectional area of the bole has been structurally compromised (see 3.7.3). There is no clear evidence to suggest that anything less than 100% separation of phloem tissue between root and shoot, or anything less than 80% loss of active xylem tissue, will result in immediate stem mortality in eucalypts. However, there is evidence that some species of trees (e.g. some conifers and oaks which do not naturally occur in forests managed under the Coastal IFOA) may experience partial canopy mortality and loss of leaves following the formation of basal fire scars, which are likely to have similar effects on tree physiology to mechanical bole injuries. There is also evidence that eucalypts may have an increased risk of future mortality (e.g. ~20% higher on average) following mechanical injuries to the bole and crown⁶. Therefore, live permanently retained trees meeting the definition of Criteria 6 (type A injuries, i.e. immediate / near-term loss of function due to (1) structural instability or (2) complete loss of hydraulic function) could potentially lose their function or have their longevity compromised unless they still meet the definition of a retained tree following the injury, e.g. the lower bole/stump may still contain hollows below the point of injury. Koala browse trees, nectar feed trees and glider sap feed trees that have lost >80% of active xylem tissues down to the level of the heartwood around the circumference of the bole (type A 2a) or 100% of phloem tissues down to the level of the sapwood around the circumference of the bole (type A 2b) could potentially have their function compromised, as they are unlikely to continue leaf growth or produce nectar/sap. Glossy black-cockatoo feed trees with a type A injury (both (1) and (2)) may still temporarily provide seeds for 2-3 weeks if the tree dies (Glossy Black Conservancy 2023; SA Government 2023); the functional longevity of any surviving trees would be severely compromised. Type B injuries (i.e. potential future loss of function) are unlikely to result in immediate loss of function but should be considered within the context of additional known vectors of tree decline such as termites and decay fungi, using Section C. Future fire and drought could also exacerbate bole injuries over time, by slowing wound occlusion and maintaining conditions suitable for fungal and insect attack (see 3.7.3.1).

⁶Study did not model crown and bole injuries separately or provide the number of samples of each type of injury. Injured trees were also subject to different fire regimes over the decades between the time of injury and sampling. See: Watson G. M., French K. & Collins L. (2020) Timber harvest and frequent prescribed burning interact to affect the demography of Eucalypt species. *Forest Ecology and Management* **475**, 118463.

4.4 SECTION C

Final Report

This section contains additional types of injuries that alone may not be significant enough to constitute damage, or the extent to which they affect the tree may be difficult to visually assess. In some circumstances the decision matrix will refer the user to Section C, which attempts to account for the combined effects of injuries in Section A and/or B and those in Section C. For example, a tree that has acquired a type B bole injury may not be considered damaged, but when there is also substantial injury to roots or termites have infested the tree, then there may be an elevated risk that the tree may fail in the long term and this may constitute damage. Section C only applies to giant trees and hollow-bearing trees which are required to be retained permanently, i.e. the Conditions do not apply to other types of temporarily retained trees as they are likely to continue to perform their functions during and at the completion of the forestry operation regardless of root damage or termite infestation. Section C requires that at least two Conditions are met before the tree could potentially be considered damaged, i.e. each Condition in isolation is likely not significant enough to constitute **damage**, even when other types of damage are present (e.g. crown or bole damage). The requirement of two Conditions being met also helps to minimise unintended outcomes, such as a hollow-bearing tree being replaced only due to the presence of termites, which are important contributors to the formation of hollows.

4.4.1 <u>Condition A:</u> Root injury

<u>Description:</u> Injury to major roots visible (i.e. breakage, snapped) due to machinery or another fallen tree. Does not include superficial scrapes or cuts. 'Root injury' in the context of this assessment refers to all areas of the roots below the main bole; includes roots, buttress roots and the root collar area clearly visible above ground, as well as roots that may be below ground but injury is still evident.

<u>Assessment:</u> Assessing injuries due to soil compaction without obvious evidence of broken roots is likely to require intensive investigation of disturbed root area. The practical method of root assessment is inspection of broken roots that are visible, which are likely to be large and shallow lateral roots that contribute to tree stability. To meet Condition A, there must be evidence that one or more major lateral roots have partially or completely broken, i.e. scrapes or cuts that only affect the bark or vascular tissues are not considered in the assessment.

Final Report

Published: August 2023

Ultimately, the operator is required to make a decision about the long-term stability of the tree given the level of root damage present. If a tree meets Condition A then it must also meet Condition B to potentially have its longevity impacted.

4.4.2 <u>Condition B:</u> Termite infestation

<u>Description:</u> Termite activity present at tree base and/or bole, evidenced by significant areas of mud packing on tree/termite galleries visible on main bole or tree base OR a large termite mound is visible within 1m of tree base.

<u>Assessment:</u> To meet Condition B, there must be evidence of a substantial termite infestation, evidenced by termite activity present at the tree base and/or bole, which may be observed as significant areas of mud packing on the tree or termite galleries visible on main bole/tree base and/or a large termite mound is visible within 1m of the tree base, as in Whitford and Williams (2001). If a tree meets Condition B then it must also meet Condition A to potentially have its longevity reduced, or function compromised.

Final Report



Figure 12. This tree has a bole injury that likely falls below the threshold for Criteria 7 (i.e. 'bole injury type B') and so it is unlikely to lose its function or have its longevity compromised, despite the termite infestation at the tree base. If the bole injury did meet Criteria 7 then the user would be referred to Section C. Following Section C, the tree would meet Condition B as the termite mound is within 1 m of the tree base. However, as no major roots are visibly broken the tree does not satisfy both Conditions in Section C and is unlikely to have its function or longevity compromised. The tree could be re-assessed at the next forestry operation.

Alamu O. T. & Ewete F. K. (2021) Influence of seasonal changes, weather factors and soil depth on the foraging activities of subterranean termites in Eucalyptus plantations. *International Journal of Tropical Insect Science* **41**, 1213-1221.

Allen K. J., Verdon-Kidd D. C., Sippo J. Z. & Baker P. J. (2021) Compound climate extremes driving recent sub-continental tree mortality in northern Australia have no precedent in recent centuries. *Scientific Reports* **11**.

Angel A. S. & Bradley J. S. (2021) Impact of a prolonged decline in rainfall on eucalypt woodlands in southwestern Australia and its consequences for avifauna. *Pacific Conservation Biology* **28**, 491-504.

Baker W. L. & Dugan A. J. (2013) Fire-history implications of fire scarring. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **43**, 951-962.

Bar A., Michaletz S. T. & Mayr S. (2019) Fire effects on tree physiology. *New Phytol* **223**, 1728-1741.

Barigah T. S., Gyenge J. E., Barreto F., Rozenberg P. & Fernandez M. E. (2021) Narrow vessels cavitate first during a simulated drought in Eucalyptus camaldulensis. *Physiol Plant* **173**, 2081-2090.

Barrett D. J., Hatton T. J., Ash J. E. & Ball M. C. (1995) Evaluation of the heat pulse velocity technique for measurement of sap flow in rainforest and eucalypt forest species of south-eastern Australia. *Plant, Cell and Environment* **18**, 463-469.

Bendall E. R., Bedward M., Boer M., Clarke H., Collins L., Leigh A. & Bradstock R. A. (2022) Mortality and resprouting responses in forest trees driven more by tree and ecosystem characteristics than drought severity and fire frequency. *Forest Ecology and Management* **509**.

Binns D. L. & Bridges R. G. (2003) Ecological Impacts and Sustainability of Timber Harvesting and Burning in Coastal Forests on the Eden Area: Establishment and Progress of the Eden Burning Study. p. 150. Research and Development Division State Forests of New South Wales, Sydney.

Bleby T. M., Burgess S. S. O. & Adams M. A. (2004) A validation, comparison and error analysis of two heat-pulse methods for measuring sap flow in Eucalyptus marginata saplings. *Functional Plant Biology* **31**.

Bluff L. (2016) Reducing the effect of planned burns on hollow-bearing trees. Fire and adaptive management report no. 95. p. 62. Victorian Government Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning, Melbourne, Victoria.

Bond W. J. & Midgley J. J. (2001) Ecology of sprouting in woody plants: the persistence niche. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* **16**, 45-51.

Bourne A. E., Creek D., Peters J. M. R., Ellsworth D. S. & Choat B. (2017) Species climate range influences hydraulic and stomatal traits in Eucalyptus species. *Ann Bot* **120**, 123-133.

Bradford M. (2018) *Eucalyptus grandis* (Rose Gum) in northern Queensland: a species under fire. *North Queensland Naturalist* **48**, 30-38.

Bradshaw F. J. (2015a) Reference material for jarrah forest silviculture. p. 141. Department of Parks and Wildlife, WA.

Bradshaw F. J. (2015b) Reference material for karri forest silviculture. p. 134. Department of Parks and Wildlife Service, WA.

Brereton R., Mallick S. A. & Kennedy S. J. (2016) Foraging preferences of Swift Parrots on Tasmanian Blue-gum: tree size, flowering frequency and flowering intensity. *Emu - Austral Ornithology* **104**, 377-383.

Brodribb T. J., Bowman D. J. M. S., Nichols S., Delzon S. & Burlett R. (2010) Xylem function and growth rate interact to determine recovery rates after exposure to extreme water deficit. *New Phytologist* **188**, 533-542.

Brodribb T. J. & Cochard H. (2009) Hydraulic failure defines the recovery and point of death in water-stressed conifers. *Plant Physiol* **149**, 575-584.

Burrows G. E. (2013) Buds, bushfires and resprouting in the eucalypts. *Australian Journal of Botany* **61**, 331.

Cameron M. (2006) Distribution and cone production in Allocasuarina diminuta and A. gymnanthera (Casuarinaceae) in central New South Wales. *The Rangeland Journal* **28**, 153.

Carlquist S. (2013) Interxylary phloem: Diversity and functions. Brittonia 65, 477-495.

Catry F. X., Moreira F., Tujeira R. & Silva J. S. (2013) Post-fire survival and regeneration of *Eucalyptus globulus* in forest plantations in Portugal. *Forest Ecology and Management* **310**, 194-203.

Choat B., Brodribb T. J., Brodersen C. R., Duursma R. A., Lopez R. & Medlyn B. E. (2018) Triggers of tree mortality under drought. *Nature* **558**, 531-539.

Christopoulos M. V., Kafkaletou M., Karantzi A. D. & Tsantili E. (2021) Girdling Effects on Fruit Maturity, Kernel Quality, and Nutritional Value of Walnuts (Juglans regia L.) alongside the Effects on Leaf Physiological Characteristics. *Agronomy* **11**.

Clarke P. J., Lawes M. J., Midgley J. J., Lamont B. B., Ojeda F., Burrows G. E., Enright N. J. & Knox K. J. (2013) Resprouting as a key functional trait: how buds, protection and resources drive persistence after fire. *New Phytol* **197**, 19-35.

Clarke P. J., Lawes M. J., Murphy B. P., Russell-Smith J., Nano C. E., Bradstock R., Enright N. J., Fontaine J. B., Gosper C. R., Radford I., Midgley J. J. & Gunton R. M.

Final Report

(2015) A synthesis of postfire recovery traits of woody plants in Australian ecosystems. *Sci Total Environ* **534**, 31-42.

Clemente E. P., Schaefer C., Novais R. F., Viana J. H. & Barros N. F. (2005) Soil compaction around Eucalyptus grandis roots: a micromorphological study. *Australian Journal of Soil Research* **43**, 139-146.

Clifton I. D. (2010) High koala mortality associated with low browse moisture in tropical environments. *Australian Mammalogy* **32**, 157.

Clout M. N. (1989) Foraging Behaviour of Glossy Black-Cockatoos. *Australian Wildlife Research* 16, 467-473.

Collins L. (2020) Eucalypt forests dominated by epicormic resprouters are resilient to repeated canopy fires. *Journal of Ecology* **00**, 1-15.

Collins L., Clarke H., Clarke M. F., Mccoll Gausden S. C., Nolan R. H., Penman T., Bradstock R. & Varner M. (2022) Warmer and drier conditions have increased the potential for large and severe fire seasons across south-eastern Australia. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* **31**, 1933-1948.

Coutts M. P. (1983) Root architecture and tree stability. *Plant and Soil* 71, 171-188.

Coutts M. P. (1986) Components of Tree Stability in Sitka Spruce on Peaty Gley Soil. *Forestry* **59**, 173-197.

Crowley G. M. (1986) Ecology of *Allocasuarina littoralis* (Salisb.) L. Johnson and *A. torulosa* (Ait.) L. Johnson in North Queensland. In: *School of Biological Sciences* p. 318. James Cook University.

Crowley G. M. & Garnett S. T. (2001) Food Value and tree selection by Glossy Black-Cockatoos *Calyptorhynchus lathami*. *Austral Ecology* **26**, 116-126.

Cunningham S. A., Pullen K. R. & Colloff M. J. (2009) Whole-tree sap flow is substantially diminished by leaf herbivory. *Oecologia* **158**, 633-640.

DCCEEW. (2023) Loss of hollow-bearing trees in native forests and woodlands due to ecologically unsustainable forestry practices. Australian Government, Canberra.

Dee J. R., Stambaugh M. C., Smith K. T. & Dey D. C. (2019) Fire Scars Negatively Affect Hydraulic Conductivity in White Oak (Quercus alba). *Forests* **10**.

DSE. (1988) Loss of hollow-bearing trees from Victorian native forests and woodlands. In: *Action Statement. Flora and Fauna Guarantee Act 1998. No 192* p. 15, Victoria.

Duan H., Shao C., Luo X., Resco de Dios V., Tissue D. T. & Ding G. (2023) Root relative water content is a potential signal for impending mortality of a subtropical conifer during extreme drought stress. *Plant Cell Environ*.

Final Report

Ellis W. A. H., Melzer A. & Bercovitch F. B. (2009) Spatiotemporal dynamics of habitat use by koalas: the checkerboard model. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* **63**, 1181-1188.

EPA N. (2018) *Coastal Integrated Forestry Operations Approval – Conditions*. (ed E. P. A. NSW) pp. 28-30. NSW Environmental Protection Authority, Sydney, NSW.

EPA N. (2020) Coastal Integrated Forestry Operations Approval – Protocols. (ed N. E. P. Authority) pp. 1-2 NSW Environment Protection Authority, Sydney, NSW.

Eyre T. J. & Goldingay R. L. (2005) Characteristics of sap trees used by yellow-bellied gliders in southern Queensland. *Wildlife Research* **32**, 23.

Fagg P. C., Ward B. K. & Featherston G. R. (1986) Eucalypt dieback associated with *Phytophthora cinnamomi* following logging, wildfire and favourable rainfall. *Australian Forestry* **49**, 36-43.

Fairman T. A., Bennett L. T., Tupper S., Nitschke C. R. & Ward D. (2017) Frequent wildfires erode tree persistence and alter stand structure and initial composition of a fire-tolerant sub-alpine forest. *Journal of Vegetation Science* **28**, 1151-1165.

Fairman T. A., Nitschke C. R. & Bennett L. T. (2016) Too much, too soon? A review of the effects of increasing wildfire frequency on tree mortality and regeneration in temperate eucalypt forests. *International Journal of Wildland Fire* **25**, 831-848.

Fajstavr M., Giagli K., Vavrčík H., Gryc V. & Urban J. (2017) The effect of stem girdling on xylem and phloem formation in Scots pine. *Silva Fennica* **51**.

FCNSW. (2015) Native Forest Silviculture Manual. p. 60, NSW.

FCNSW. (2023) Post-harvest stand profile within the CIFOA region. Unpublished data provided to Western Sydney University. p. 2. Forestry Corporation of NSW, NSW.

Ferrenberg S., Mitton J. B. & Jones H. (2014) Smooth bark surfaces can defend trees against insect attack: resurrecting a 'slippery' hypothesis. *Functional Ecology* **28**, 837-845.

FPA. (2019) Flora Technical Note No. 8: Management of *Phytophthora cinnamomi* in production forest. p. 15. Tasmanian Forest Practices Authority, Tasmania.

Furlaud J. M., Prior L. D., Williamson G. J. & Bowman D. (2021) Fire risk and severity decline with stand development in Tasmanian giant Eucalyptus forest. *Forest Ecology and Management* **502**.

Gallahar N., Leigh K. & Phalen D. (2021) Koala tree selection in a mixed-tenure landscape and post-fire implications. *Wildlife Research* **48**, 737-755.

Gauthey A., Peters J. M. R., Lòpez R., Carins-Murphy M. R., Rodriguez-Dominguez C. M., Tissue D. T., Medlyn B. E., Brodribb T. J. & Choat B. (2022) Mechanisms of

xylem hydraulic recovery after drought in Eucalyptus saligna. *Plant, Cell & Environment* **45**, 1216-1228.

Gibbons P. (1999) Habitat-tree retention in wood production forests. p. 261. The Australian National University, Canberra.

Gibbons P., Cunningham R. B. & Lindenmayer D. B. (2008) What factors influence the collapse of trees retained on logged sites? *Forest Ecology and Management* **255**, 62-67.

Gibbons P. & Lindenmayer D. B. (2002) *Tree Hollows and Wildlife Conservation in Australia*. CSIRO Publishing.

Gibbons P., Lindenmayer D. B., Barry S. C. & Tanton M. T. (2000a) The effects of slash burning on the mortality and collapse of trees retained on logged sites in south-eastern Australia. *Forest Ecology and Management* **139**, 51-61.

Gibbons P., Lindenmayer D. B., Barry S. C. & Tanton M. T. (2000b) Hollow formation in eucalypts from temperate forests in southeastern Australia. *Pacific Conservation Biology* 6, 218-228.

Gibbons P., Lindenmayer D. B., Barry S. C. & Tanton M. T. (2002) Hollow selection by vertebrate fauna in forests of southeastern Australia and implications for forest management. *Biological Conservation* **103**, 1-12.

Gibson R. K. & Hislop S. (2022) Signs of resilience in resprouting Eucalyptus forests, but areas of concern: 1 year of post-fire recovery from Australia's Black Summer of 2019–2020. *International Journal of Wildland Fire*.

Gill A. M. (1980) Restoration of Bark Thickness after Fire and Mechanical Injury in a Smooth-barked Eucalypt. *Australian Forest Research* **10**, 311-319.

Gill M. A. (1978) Crown Recovery of *Eucalyptus dives* Following Wildfire. *Australian Forestry* **41**, 207-214.

Glossy Black Conservancy. (2022) Glossy Black-Cockatoo Conservation Guidelines for South-Eastern Queensland and Far North-Eastern New South Wales. p. 25, Cleveland, Queensland.

Glossy Black Conservancy. (2023) Living with glossy blacks: feed tree propogation and planting. p. 2.

Goldingay R. L. (1991) An evaluation of hypotheses to explain the pattern of sap feeding by the yellow-bellied glider, Petaurus australis. *Austral Ecology* **16**, 491-500.

Goldingay R. L. (2000) Use of sap trees by the yellow-bellied glider in the Shoalhaven region of New South Wales. *Wildlife Research* **27**, 217-222.

Goldingay R. L. (2011) Characteristics of tree hollows used by Australian arboreal and scansorial mammals. *Australian Journal of Zoology* **59**, 277-294.

Greaves T. (1959) Termites as Forest Pests. Australian Forestry 23, 114-120.

Greaves T., McLnnes R. S. & Dowse J. E. (1965) Timber Losses Caused by Termites, Decay and Fire in an Alpine Forest in New South Wales. *Australian Forestry* **29**, 161-174.

Gutsell S. L. & Johnson E. A. (1996) How fire scars are formed: coupling a disturbance process to its ecological effect. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **26**, 166-174.

Hammond W. M., Yu K., Wilson L. A., Will R. E., Anderegg W. R. L. & Adams H. D. (2019) Dead or dying? Quantifying the point of no return from hydraulic failure in drought-induced tree mortality. *New Phytologist* **223**, 1834-1843.

Han H. S. & Kellogg L. D. (2000) Damage Characteristics in Young Douglas-Fir Stands from Commercial Thinning with Four Timber Harvesting Systems. *Western Journal of Applied Forestry* **15**, 27-33.

Harris W. V. (1955) Termites and forestry. Empire Forestry Review 34, 160-166.

Haslem A., Avitabile S. C., Taylor R. S., Kelly L. T., Watson S. J., Nimmo D. G., Kenny S. A., Callister K. E., Spence-Bailey L. M., Bennett A. F. & Clarke M. F. (2012) Time-since-fire and inter-fire interval influence hollow availability for fauna in a fire-prone system. *Biological Conservation* **152**, 212-221.

Heise-Pavlov S. R., Chizinski T. & Walker N. E. (2018) Selection of sap feed trees by yellow-bellied gliders (Petaurus australis) in north-eastern Queensland, Australia – implications for site-specific habitat management. *Australian Mammalogy* **40**.

Hindell M. A. (1978) Habitat Use and Tree Preferences of Koalas in a Mixed Eucalypt Forest. *Australian Wildlife Research* 14, 349-360.

Hingston A. B. & Piech M. (2011) Eucalypt flower production in the suburbs and bush: implications for the endangered Swift Parrot *Lathamus discolor*. *Pacific Conservation Biology* **17**, 338-346.

Hingston A. B. & Potts B. M. (2005) Pollinator activity can explain variation in outcrossing rates within individual trees. *Austral Ecology* **30**, 319-324.

Hofman M., Gracanin A., Mikac K. M. & Goldingay R. (2022) Greater glider (Petauroides volans) den tree and hollow characteristics. *Australian Mammalogy* **45**, 127-137.

Högberg P., Nordgren A., Buchman N., Taylor A. F. S., Ekblad A., Högberg M. N., Nyberg G., Ottosson-Löfvenius M. & Read D. J. (2001) Large-scale forest girdling shows that current photosynthesis drives soil respiration. *Nature* **411**, 789-792.

Hopkins A. J. M., Harrison K. S., Grove S. J., Wardlaw T. J. & Mohammed C. J. (2005) Wood-decay fungi and saproxylic beetles associated with living *Eucalyptus obliqua* trees: early results from studies at the Warra LTER Site, Tasmania. *Tasforests* 16.

Final Report

Huang Y. S., Hsu F. L., Lee C. M. & Juang J. Y. (2017) Failure mechanism of hollow tree trunks due to cross-sectional flattening. *R Soc Open Sci* **4**, 160972.

Jackson S. M., Fredericksen T. S. & Malcolm J. R. (2002) Area disturbed and residual stand damage following logging in a Bolivian tropical forest. *Forest Ecology and Management* **166**, 271-283.

Joseph L. (1982) The Glossy Black-Cockatoo on Kangaroo Island. *Emu - Austral Ornithology* 82, 46-49.

Jurskis V. & Potter M. (1997) Research Paper No. 34: Koala Surveys, Ecology and Conservation at Eden. p. 79, Eden.

Kavanagh R. (1987a) Forest Phenology and Its Effect on Foraging Behavior and Selection of Habitat by the Yellow-Bellied Glider, Petaurus-Australis Shaw. *Wildlife Research* 14, 371.

Kavanagh R. P. (1987b) Foraging behaviour of the yellow-bellied glider, Petaurus australis (Marsupialia: Petauridae), near Eden. *Australian Mammalogy* **10**, 37-40.

Keeley J. E., Pausas J. G., Rundel P. W., Bond W. J. & Bradstock R. A. (2011) Fire as an evolutionary pressure shaping plant traits. *Trends Plant Sci* 16, 406-411.

Kennedy S. J. & Overs A. E. (2001) Foraging ecology and habitat use of the swift parrot on the south-west slopes of New South Wales. *Corella* **25**, 68-74.

Kennedy S. J. & Tzaros C. L. (2005) Foraging ecology of the Swift Parrot *Lathamus discolor* in the box-ironbark forests and woodlands of Victoria. *Pacific Conservation Biology* **11**, 158-175.

Koch A. J., Munks S. A., Driscoll D. & Kirkpatrick J. B. (2008) Does hollow occurrence vary with forest type? A case study in wet and dry Eucalyptus obliqua forest. *Forest Ecology and Management* **255**, 3938-3951.

Law B., Mackowski C., Schoer L. & Tweedie T. (2000) Flowering phenology of myrtaceous trees and their relation to climatic, environmental and disturbance variables in northern New South Wales. *Austral Ecology* **25**, 160-178.

Law B., Slade C., Gonsalves L., Brassil T., Flanagan C. & Kerr I. (2022) Tree use by koalas after timber harvesting in a mosaic landscape. *Wildlife Research*.

Law B. S. & Chidel M. (2008) Quantifying the canopy nectar resource and the impact of logging and climate in spotted gum Corymbia maculata forests. *Austral Ecology* **33**, 999-1014.

Li X., Blackman C. J., Choat B., Duursma R. A., Rymer P. D., Medlyn B. E. & Tissue D. T. (2018) Tree hydraulic traits are coordinated and strongly linked to climate-of-origin across a rainfall gradient. *Plant Cell Environ* **41**, 646-660.

Lindenmayer D. & Bowd E. (2022) Critical Ecological Roles, Structural Attributes and Conservation of Old Growth Forest: Lessons From a Case Study of Australian Mountain Ash Forests. *Frontiers in Forests and Global Change* **5**.

Lindenmayer D. B., Cunningham R. B., Tanton M. T., Nix H. A. & Smith A. P. (1991) The Conservation of Arboreal Marsupials in the Montane Ash Forests of the Central Highlands of Victoria, South-East Australia: III. The Habitat Requirements of Leadbeater's Possum *Gymnobelideus leadbeateri* and Models of the Diversity and Abundance of Arboreal Marsupials. *Biological Conservation* **56**, 295-315.

Lindenmayer D. B. & Laurance W. F. (2017) The ecology, distribution, conservation and management of large old trees. *Biological Reviews* **92**, 1434-1458.

Little K. M. & Gardner R. A. W. (2003) Coppicing ability of 20 Eucalyptus species grown at two high-altitude sites in South Africa. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research-Revue Canadienne De Recherche Forestiere* **33**, 181-189.

Losso A., Challis A., Gauthey A., Nolan R. H., Hislop S., Roff A., Boer M. M., Jiang M., Medlyn B. E. & Choat B. (2022a) Canopy dieback and recovery in Australian native forests following extreme drought. *Scientific Reports* **12**, 1-14.

Losso A., Challis A., Gauthey A., Nolan R. H., Hislop S., Roff A., Boer M. M., Jiang M., Medlyn B. E. & Choat B. (2022b) Canopy dieback and recovery in Australian native forests following extreme drought. *Scientific Reports* **12**.

Lowe A. J., Boshier D., Ward M., Bacles C. F. E. & Navarro C. (2005) Genetic resource impacts of habitat loss and degradation; reconciling empirical evidence and predicted theory for neotropical trees. *Heredity* **95**, 255-273.

Lunt I. D. (1998) Two hundred years of land use and vegetation change in a remnant coastal woodland in southern Australia. *Australian Journal of Botany* **46**, 629-647.

Mac Nally R. & Horrocks G. (2000) Landscape-scale conservation of an endangered migrant: the Swift Parrot (*Lathamus discolor*) in its winter range. *Biological Conservation* **92**, 335-343.

Mantova M., Herbette S., Cochard H. & Torres-Ruiz J. M. (2022) Hydraulic failure and tree mortality: from correlation to causation. *Trends in Plant Science* **27**, 335-345.

Marchin R. M., Backes D., Ossola A., Leishman M. R., Tjoelker M. G. & Ellsworth D. S. (2022a) Extreme heat increases stomatal conductance and drought-induced mortality risk in vulnerable plant species. *Global Change Biology* **28**, 1133-1146.

Marchin R. M., Esperon-Rodriguez M., Tjoelker M. G. & Ellsworth D. S. (2022b) Crown dieback and mortality of urban trees linked to heatwaves during extreme drought. *Science of the Total Environment* **850**, 12. Marsh K. J., Moore B. D., Wallis I. R. & Foley W. J. (2013) Continuous monitoring of feeding by koalas highlights diurnal differences in tree preferences. *Wildlife Research* **40**.

Martin R. W. (1985) Overbrowsing, and Decline of a Population of the Koala, *Phascolarctos cinereus*, in Victoria I. Food Preference and Food Tree Defoliation. *Australian Wildlife Research* **12**, 355-365.

Mattheck C., Bethge K. & West P. W. (1994) Breakage of hollow tree stems. *Trees* 9, 47-50.

Matthews A., Lunney D., Gresser S. & Maitz W. (2007) Tree use by koala (*Phascolarctos cinereus*) after fire in remnant coastal forest. *Wildlife Research* **34**, 84-93.

McFadyen L., Robertson D., Sedgley M., Kristiansen P. & Olesen T. (2013) Effects of girdling on fruit abscission, yield and shoot growth in macadamia. *Scientia Horticulturae* **164**, 172-177.

McLean C. M., Bradstock R., Price O. & Kavanagh R. P. (2015) Tree hollows and forest stand structure in Australian warm temperate Eucalyptus forests are adversely affected by logging more than wildfire. *Forest Ecology and Management* **341**, 37-44.

McLuckie J. & McKee H. S. (1954) Australia and New Zealand Botany. Horwitz Publications, Sydney.

Medjibe V. P., Putz F. E., Starkey M. P., Ndouna A. A. & Memiaghe H. R. (2011) Impacts of selective logging on above-ground forest biomass in the Monts de Cristal in Gabon. *Forest Ecology and Management* **262**, 1799-1806.

Menkhorst P., Schedvin N. & Geering D. (1999) Regent honeyeater recovery plan 1999-2003. p. 26. Parks, Flora and Fauna Division, Department of Natural Resources and Environment, Melbourne.

Merchant A., Callister A., Arndt S., Tausz M. & Adams M. (2007) Contrasting physiological responses of six *Eucalyptus* species to water deficit. *Ann Bot* **100**, 1507-1515.

Merchant A., Tausz M., Arndt S. K. & Adams M. A. (2006) Cyclitols and carbohydrates in leaves and roots of 13 *Eucalyptus* species suggest contrasting physiological responses to water deficit. *Plant Cell Environ* **29**, 2017-2029.

Moehring D. M. & Rawls I. W. (1970) Detrimental Effects of Wet Weather Logging. *Journal of Forestry* **68**, 166-167.

Moore B. D. & Foley W. J. (2000) A review of feeding and diet selection in koalas (Phascolarctos cinereus). *Australian Journal of Zoology* **48**, 317.

Moore G. M. (2013) Ring-barking and girdling: how much vascular connection do you need between roots and crown? In: *TREENET Proceedings of the 14th National Street Tree Symposium 2013* (eds G. Williams and N. Wojcik) p. 100, University of Adelaide.

N'Dri A. B., Gignoux J., Konaté S., Dembélé A. & Aïdara D. (2011) Origin of trunk damage in West African savanna trees: the interaction of fire and termites. *Journal of Tropical Ecology* **27**, 269-278.

Naumann G., Alfieri L., Wyser K., Mentaschi L., Betts R. A., Carrao H., Spinoni J., Vogt J. & Feyen L. (2018) Global Changes in Drought Conditions Under Different Levels of Warming. *Geophysical Research Letters* **45**, 3285-3296.

Nicolle D. (2006) A classification and census of regenerative strategies in the eucalypts (*Angophora, Corymbia* and *Eucalyptus*—Myrtaceae), with special reference to the obligate seeders. *Australian Journal of Botany* **54**.

Nolan R. H., Collins L., Leigh A., Ooi M. K. J., Curran T. J., Fairman T. A., Resco de Dios V. & Bradstock R. (2021a) Limits to post-fire vegetation recovery under climate change. *Plant Cell Environ*, 1-19.

Nolan R. H., Gauthey A., Losso A., Medlyn B. E., Smith R., Chhajed S. S., Fuller K., Song M., Li X., Beaumont L. J., Boer M. M., Wright I. J. & Choat B. (2021b) Hydraulic failure and tree size linked with canopy die-back in eucalypt forest during extreme drought. *New Phytol* **230**, 1354-1365.

Nolan R. H., Mitchell P. J., Bradstock R. A. & Lane P. N. (2014) Structural adjustments in resprouting trees drive differences in post-fire transpiration. *Tree Physiol* **34**, 123-136.

Nolan R. H., Rahmani S., Samson S. A., Simpson-Southward H. M., Boer M. M. & Bradstock R. A. (2020) Bark attributes determine variation in fire resistance in resprouting tree species. *Forest Ecology and Management* **474**, 118385.

North H. M., Lamont R. W., Ogbourne S. M. & Conroy G. C. (2020) Feeding profitability is associated with Glossy Black-cockatoo (Calyptorhynchus lathami ssp. lathami) feed tree selection. *Emu - Austral Ornithology* **120**, 295-303.

NRC. (2016) Advice on Coastal Integrated Forestry Operations Approval Remake. p. 95, Sydney.

NRC. (2022a) Koala response to harvesting in NSW north coast state forests. Final report (updated). December 2022. p. 92. Natural Resources Commission, NSW.

NRC. (2022b) Summary paper: Koala and habitat response after the 2019-20 wildfires in north east NSW. November 2022. p. 21. NSW Natural Resources Commission, NSW.

NSW EPA. (2018) Coastal Integrated Forestry Operations Approval - Conditions. p. 85, Sydney.

Final Report

NSW EPA. (2020) Coastal Integrated Forestry Operations Approval - Protocols. p. 275, Parramatta.

NSW Government. (2023) Loss of Hollow-bearing Trees. NSW Government, NSW.

NSW TSSC. (2003) Removal of dead wood and dead trees - key threatening process listing. NSW OEH, NSW.

NSW TSSC. (2007) Loss of hollow-bearing trees - key threatening process listing. NSW OEH, NSW.

O'Connell A. M. (1987) Litter decomposition, soil respiration and soil chemical and biochemical properties at three contrasting sites in karri (Eucalyptus diversicolor F. Muell.) forests of south-western Australia. *Austral Ecology* **12**, 31-40.

O'Hara K. L., York R. A. & Heald R. C. (2008) Effect of pruning severity and timing of treatment on epicormic sprout development in giant sequoia. *Forestry* **81**, 103-110.

Oliver D. L. (1998) Ecology and conservation of the endangered Regent Honeyeater, '*Xanthomya phrygia*', in northern New South Wales. University of New England, Armidale.

Oliver D. L. (2000) Foraging Behaviour and Resource Selection of the Regent Honeyeater<i>Xanthomyza phrygia</i>in Northern New South Wales. *Emu - Austral Ornithology* **100**, 12-30.

Oliver D. L., Ley A. J., Ford H. A. & Williams B. (1999) Habitat of the Regent Honeyeater *Xanthomyza phrygia* and the value of the Bundarra-Barraba region for the conservation of avifauna. *Pacific Conservation Biology* **5**, 224-239.

Ow L. F., Ghosh S. & Sim E. K. (2013) Mechanical injury and occlusion: An urban, tropical perspective. *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening* **12**, 255-261.

Partelli-Feltrin R., Smith A. M. S., Adams H. D., Thompson R. A., Kolden C. A., Yedinak K. M. & Johnson D. M. (2023) Death from hunger or thirst? Phloem death, rather than xylem hydraulic failure, as a driver of fire-induced conifer mortality. *New Phytologist* **237**, 1154-1163.

Pausas J. G. (2015) Bark thickness and fire regime. Functional Ecology 29, 315-327.

Pausas J. G. & Keeley J. E. (2017) Epicormic Resprouting in Fire-Prone Ecosystems. *Trends Plant Sci* **22**, 1008-1015.

Pausas J. G., Pratt R. B., Keeley J. E., Jacobsen A. L., Ramirez A. R., Vilagrosa A., Paula S., Kaneakua-Pia I. N. & Davis S. D. (2016) Towards understanding resprouting at the global scale. *New Phytol* **209**, 945-954.

Pepper J. W. (1997) A Survey of the South Australian Glossy Black-cockatoo (*Calyptorhynchus lathami halmaturinus*) and its Habitat. *Wildlife Research* 24, 209-223.

Pepper J. W., Male T. D. & Roberts G. E. (2000) Foraging ecology of the South Australian glossy black-cockatoo (Calyptorhynchus lathami halmaturinus). *Austral Ecology* **25**, 16-24.

Percival G. C. & Smiley E. T. (2015) The influence of stem girdling on survival and long term health of English oak (Quercus robur L.) and silver birch (Betula pendula Roth.). *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening* **14**, 991-999.

Perry D. H., Lenz M. & Watson J. A. L. (1985) Relationships between fire, fungal rots and termite damage in Australian forest trees. *Australian Forestry* **48**, 46-53.

Priestley S. (2004) The effects of Girdling and Ringbarking on Young Trees: a Preliminary Study. Industry Project Report. Burnley Campus, Melbourne.

Qin Y., Xiao X., Wigneron J.-P., Ciais P., Canadell J. G., Brandt M., Li X., Fan L., Wu X., Tang H., Dubayah R., Doughty R., Crowell S., Zheng B. & Moore B. (2022) Large loss and rapid recovery of vegetation cover and aboveground biomass over forest areas in Australia during 2019–2020. *Remote Sensing of Environment* **278**.

Rajput K. S., Kapadane K. K., Ramoliya D. G., Thacker K. D. & Gondaliya A. D. (2022) Inter- and Intraxylary Phloem in Vascular Plants: A Review of Subtypes, Occurrences, and Development. *Forests* **13**.

Rivas F., Gravina A. & Agustí M. (2007) Girdling effects on fruit set and quantum yield efficiency of PSII in two *Citrus* cultivars. *Tree Physiology* **24**, 527-535.

Robinson T. & Paull D. (2009) Comparative evaluation of suburban bushland as foraging habitat for the Glossy Black-Cockatoo. *Corella* **33**, 7-12.

Rodriguez-Cubillo D., Prior L. D. & Bowman D. (2020) Variation in Eucalyptus delegatensis post-fire recovery strategies: The Tasmanian subspecies is a resprouter whereas the mainland Australian subspecies is an obligate seeder. *Forest Ecology and Management* **473**.

Rundel P. W. (1973) The Relationship Between Basal Fire Scars and Crown Damage in Giant Sequoia. *Ecology* **54**, 210-213.

SA Government. (2023) Seeds of South Australia. SA Government, SA.

Sallabanks R. (1993) Hierarchical Mechanisms of Fruit Selection by an Avian Frugivore. *Ecology* 74, 1326-1336.

Saunders D. L., Brereton R., Tzaros C. L., Holdsworth M. & Price R. (2007) Conservation of the Swift Parrot *Lathamus discolor* - management lessons for a threatened migratory species. *Pacific Conservation Biology* **13**, 111-119.

Saunders D. L. & Heinsohn R. (2008) Winter habitat use by the endangered, migratory Swift Parrot (Lathamus discolor) in New South Wales. *Emu - Austral Ornithology* **108**, 81-89.

Saunders D. L. & Tzaros C. L. (2011) National Recovery Plan for the Swift Parrot *Lathamus discolor*. Melbourne.

Scotts D. J. (1991) Old-growth forests: their ecological characteristics and value to forest dependent vertebrate fauna of south-east Australia. In: *Conservation of Australia's Forest Fauna* (ed D. Lunney) pp. 147-159. Royal Zoological Society of Australia, Mosman.

Shenkin A., Bolker B., Peña-Claros M., Licona J. C. & Putz F. E. (2015) Fates of trees damaged by logging in Amazonian Bolivia. *Forest Ecology and Management* **357**, 50-59.

Shepperd W. D. (1993a) The Effect of Commercial Harvest Activities on Root Compaction and Suckering of Aspen. *Western Journal of Applied Forestry* **8**, 62-66.

Shepperd W. D. (1993b) The Effect of Harvesting Activities on Soil Compaction, Root Damage, and Suckering in Colorado Aspen. *Western Journal of Applied Forestry* **8**, 62-66.

Shive K. L., Wuenschel A., Hardlund L. J., Morris S., Meyer M. D. & Hood S. M. (2022) Ancient trees and modern wildfires: Declining resilience to wildfire in the highly fire-adapted giant sequoia. *Forest Ecology and Management* **511**.

Sillett S. C., Pelt R. V., Carroll A. L., Kramer R. D., Ambrose A. R. & Trask D. (2015) How do tree structure and old age affect growth potential of California redwoods? *Ecological Monographs* **85**, 181-212.

Silva S. R., Barros N. F. D., Novais R. F. D. & Comerford N. B. (2018) Eucalyptus growth and phosphorus nutritional efficiency as affected by soil compaction and phosphorus fertilization. *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis* **49**, 2700-2714.

Smith G. C., Mathieson M. & Hogan L. (2007) Home range and habitat use of a lowdensity population of greater gliders, Petauroides volans (Pseudocheiridae: Marsupialia), in a hollow-limiting environment. *Wildlife Research* **34**, 472.

Smith R. G. B., Dingle J., Kearney D. & Montagu K. (2006) Branch occlusion after pruning in four contrasting sub-tropical eucalypt species. *ournal of Tropical Forest Science* **18**, 117-123.

Stares M., Collins L., Law B. & French K. (2018) Long-Term Effect of Prescribed Burning Regimes and Logging on Coarse Woody Debris in South-Eastern Australia. *Forests* **9**, 242.

Stickel P. W. & Marco H. F. (1936) Forest Fire Damage Studies in the Northeast - III. Relation Between Fire Injury and Fungal Infection. *Journal of Forestry* **34**, 420-423.

Stone C., Kathuria A., Carney C. & Hunter J. (2008) Forest canopy health and stand structure associated with bell miners (Manorina melanophrys) on the central coast of New South Wales. *Australian Forestry* **71**, 294-302.

Stubbs B. J. (1998) Land Improvement or Institutionalised Destruction? The Ringbarking Controversy, 1879-1884, and the Emergence of a Conservation Ethic in New South Wales. *Environment and History* **4**, 145-167.

Taiz L. & Zeiger E. (2002) *Plant Physiology, 3rd Edition*. Sinauer and Associates, Sunderland.

Tavankar F., Picchio R., Lo Monaco A., Nikooy M., Venanze R. & Bonyad A. E. (2019) Wound healing rate in oriental beech trees following logging damage. *Drewno* **62**, 5-21.

Trouvé R., Osborne L. & Baker P. J. (2021) The effect of species, size, and fire intensity on tree mortality within a catastrophic bushfire complex. *Ecological Applications* **0**, e02383.

Tyree M. T. & Zimmermann M. H. (2002) *Xylem Structure and the Ascent of sap.* Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.

Vasiliauskas R. (2001) Damage to trees due to forestry operations and its pathological significance in temperate forests: a literature review. *Forestry* **74**, 319-336.

Vesk P. A., Nolan R., Thomson J. R., Dorrough J. W. & Nally R. M. (2008) Time lags in provision of habitat resources through revegetation. *Biological Conservation* **141**, 174-186.

Vivian L. M., Cary G. J., Bradstock R. A. & Gill A. M. (2008) Influence of fire severity on the regeneration, recruitment and distribution of eucalypts in the Cotter River Catchment, Australian Capital Territory. *Austral Ecology* **33**, 55-67.

Watson G. M., French K. & Collins L. (2020) Timber harvest and frequent prescribed burning interact to affect the demography of Eucalypt species. *Forest Ecology and Management* **475**, 118463.

Webster R. & Menkhorst P. (1992) The Regent Honeyeater (*Xanthomyza phrygia*): population status and ecology in Victoria and New South Wales. Arthur Rylah Institute for Environmental Research Technical Report Series Number 126. Arthur Rylah Institute for Environmental Research, Melbourne.

Werner P. A. & Prior L. D. (2007) Tree-piping termites and growth and survival of host trees in savanna woodland of north Australia. *Journal of Tropical Ecology* **23**, 611-622.

Weste G., Cooke D. & Taylor P. (1973) THE INVASION OF NATIVE FOREST BY PHYTOPHTHORA CINNAMOMI II.* POST-INFECTION VEGETATION PATTERNS, REGENERATION, DECLINE IN INOCULUM, AND ATTEMPTED CONTROL. *Australian Journal of Botany* **21**, 13-29.

Wheeler N. C., Masters C. J., Cade S. C., Ross S. D., Keeley J. W. & Hsin L. Y. (1985) Girdling: an effective and practical treatment for enhancing seed yields in Douglas-fir seed orchards. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **15**, 505-510.

Whisson D. A., Dixon V., Taylor M. L. & Melzer A. (2016) Failure to Respond to Food Resource Decline Has Catastrophic Consequences for Koalas in a High-Density Population in Southern Australia. *PLoS One* **11**, e0144348.

White D. A. & Kile G. A. (1993) Discolouration and decay from artificial wounds in 20-year-old Eucalyptus regnans. *Forest Pathology* **23**, 431-440.

White D. A. & Kile G. A. (1994) Breakdown of barrier zones and prediction of the spread of discolouration and decay resulting from stem wounds in Eucalyptus regnans and E. obliqua. *Forest Pathology* **24**, 71-78.

Whitford K. R. (1991) Crown Assessments Improve Regression Estimates of Leaf Area in Jarrah Trees (*Eucalyptus marginata*). *Australian Journal of Botany* **39**, 535-544.

Whitford K. R. & Williams D. G. (2001) Survival of jarrah (*Eucalyptus marginata* Sm.) and marri (*Corymbia calophylla* Lindl.) Habitat trees retained after logging. *Forest Ecology and Management* **146**, 181-197.

Williamson J. R. & Neilsen W. A. (2003) The effect of soil compaction, profile disturbance and fertilizer application on the growth of eucalypt seedlings in two glasshouse studies. *Soil & Tillage Research* **71**, 95-107.

Woods J. H. (1989) Research Note No. 103: Stem girdling to increase seed and pollen production of coast Douglas-fir. p. 17. Ministry of Forests, Victoria, B. C.

Woolley L.-A., Murphy B. P., Radford I. J., Westaway J. & Woinarski J. C. Z. (2018) Cyclones, fire, and termites: The drivers of tree hollow abundance in northern Australia's mesic tropical savanna. *Forest Ecology and Management* **419-420**, 146-159.

Yang M., Defossez P., Danjon F. & Fourcaud T. (2014) Tree stability under wind: simulating uprooting with root breakage using a finite element method. *Ann Bot* **114**, 695-709.

Zeppel M. J. B., Murray B. R., Barton C. & Eamus D. (2004) Seasonal responses of xylem sap velocity to VPD and solar radiation during drought in a stand of native trees in temperate Australia. *Functional Plant Biology* **31**, 461-470.

Zuhair S., Fukuda K. & Yamada T. (2010) Response of four tree species to mechanical wounding made at different seasons. *Tree Health Research Society, Japan*.

Zylstra P. J. (2018) Flammability dynamics in the Australian Alps. *Austral Ecology* **43**, 578-591.

Final Report

6 Appendix A – Draft Injury Threshold Decision Matrix

SECTION A COMPLETE SECTION A AND <u>DO NOT MOVE TO SECTION B OR C</u> UNLESS IT IS INDICATED					SECTION B			SECTION C		SECTION D					
					COMPLETE SECTION B AND <u>DO NOT MOVE TO SECTION C</u> UNLESS IT IS INDICATED. THIS SECTION ONLY APPLIES TO THE MAIN BOLE BELOW THE PRIMARY CROWN BRANCHES AND ABOVE EXPOSED ROOTS										
TYPE OF INJURY	TYPE OF INJURY KNOCKED OVER / UPROOTED / BROKEN OR SNAPPED TREE		MECHANICAL CROWN INJURY			TYPE OF INJUR	MECHANICA	MECHANICAL BOLE INJURY		ROOTS AND TERMITES					
CRITERIA	A CRITERIA 1	CRITERIA 2	CRITERIA 3	CRITERIA 4	CRITERIA 5		CRITERIA 6	CRITERIA 7	CRITERIA 8			REGIONS	SCIENTIFIC NAME	COMMON NAMES	
FOR SECTION A MOVE THROUGH THE CRITERIA TO THE RIGHT UNTIL THE TREE MEETS THE CRITERIA DESCRIPTION	NOT FREE-STANDING	BROKEN OR SNAPPED TREE	CROWN INJURY TYPE A	CROWN INJURY TYPE B		FOR SECTION B MOVE THROUGH THE CRITERIA TO THI RIGHT UNTIL THE TREE MEETS THE CRITERIA DESCRIPTION	E BOLE INJURY TYPE A	BOLE INJURY TYPE B		ROOT INJURY	TERMITE INFESTATION	NORTH COAST; SOUTH COAST	Eucalyplus oreades	Blue Mountains ash; white ash; smooth-barked mountain ash	
	i.e. the tree has fallen to the	Crown of tree has been entrely broken off and only the main bole or a stump remains	THRESHOLD but LESS THAN 100% of crown branches have	THRESHOLD but some crown	If no options so far have been applicable then <u>now move to</u> <u>Section B</u>		of bole at widest point of injury has been removed but tree still standing OR (2a) an amount ABOVE DAMAGE	amount BELOW DAMAGE	If no opfions so far have been applicable then tree is not damaged. <u>Do not go to</u> <u>Section C</u>		. Termite activity present at tree base and/or bole, evidenced by significant areas of mud packing on tree/termite galleries visible on main bole or tree base OR a large termite mound is visible within	NORTH COAST; SOUTH COAST NORTH COAST	Eucalyptus paucifiora Eucalyptus grandis	snow gum; cabbage gum; white sally flooded gum; rose gum	
CRITERIA DESCRIPTION	A N					CRITERI DESCRIPTIO	A heartwood have been removed around circumference of bole OR (2b)	e tissues down to the level of the heartwood have been removed around	e		1 m of tree base	SOUTH COAST	Eucalyptus fraxinoides	white ash; white mountain ash	
							an amount ABOVE DAMAGE THRESHOLD of phloem tissues down to the level of the sapwood have been removed around circumference of bole					SOUTH COAST	Eucalyptus delagatensis	alpine ash; gum-topped stringybark; white-top	
TREE CATEGORIES						TREE CATEGORIES									
Dead standing tree	POTENTIAL LOSS OF FUNCTION	IF LESS THAN 3 METERES TALL AND DOES NOT CONTAIN HOLLOWS, TREE HAS POTENTIALY LOST ITS FUNCTION. OTHERWISE GO TO SECTION B - IF SECTION B DOES NOT APPLY THEN GO TO SECTION C		DOES NOT APPLY		Dead standing tree	FUNCTION LIKELY TO BE MAINTAINED. CHECK AGAIN A NEXT FORESTRY OPERATION	FUNCTION LIKELY TO BE T MAINTAINED. CHECK AGAIN A NEXT FORESTRY OPERATION	т	DOES NOT AFFLY					
Giant tree	POTENTIAL LOSS OF FUNCTION	IF SPECIES MATCHES ANY SPECIES LISTED IN SECTION D TREE HAS POTENTIALLY LOST ITS FUNCTION. OTHERWISE GO TO SECTION B - IF SECTION B DOES NOT APPLY THEN GO TO SECTION C	GO TO SECTION B - IF SECTION B DOES NOT APPLY THEN GO 5 TO SECTION C	GO TO SECTION B - IF SECTION B DOES NOT APPLY THEN RETAIN AND CHECK AGAIN AT NEXT FORESTRY OPERATION. OTHERWISE FOLLOW INSTRUCTIONS IN SECTION B		Giant tree	POTENTIAL LOSS OF FUNCTION	go to section c		IF BOTH CONDITIONS (A + B) ARE MET THEN <u>LONGEVITY AND.</u> FUNCTION MAY BE COMPROMISED OTHERWISE REFAIN AND CHECK AGAIN AT NEXT FORESTRY OPERATION					
Hollow-bearing tree	POTENTIAL LOSS OF FUNCTION	IF SPECIES MATCHES ANY SPECIES LISTED IN SECTION D TREE HAS POTENTIALLY LOST ITS FUNCTION. OTHERWISE GO TO SECTION B - IF SECTION B OES NOT APPLY THEN GO TO SECTION C	GO TO SECTION B - IF SECTION B DOES NOT APPLY THEN GO	GO TO SECTION B - IF SECTION B DOES NOT APPLY THEN RETAIN AND CHECK AGAIN AT NEXT FORESTRY OPERATION. OTHERWISE FOLLOW INSTRUCTIONS IN SECTION B		Hollow-bearing tree	POTENTIAL LOSS OF FUNCTION	GO TO SECTION C		IF BOTH CONDITIONS (A + B) ARE MET THEN LONGEVITY AND FUNCTION MAY BE COMPROMISED. OTHERWISE RETAIL AND CHECK AGAIN AT NEXT FORESTRY OPERATION					
Koala feed tree	POTENTIAL LOSS OF FUNCTION	POTENTIAL LOSS OF FUNCTION	POTENTIAL LOSS OF FUNCTION	FUNCTION LIKELY TO BE MAINTAINED		Koala feed tree	WHEN AN AMOUNT ABOVE DAMAGE THRESHOD OF ACTIVE XYLEM ITSUES OF AN AMOUNT ROVE DAMAGE THRESHOLD OF PHLOEM TSUE HAVE BEEN LOST AROUND CIRCUMFERENCE, TREE HAS POTENTIALLY LOST ITS POTENTIALLY LOST ITS	S FUNCTION LIKELY TO BE MAINTAINED		DOES NOT AFFLY					
Glider sap tree	POTENTIAL LOSS OF FUNCTION	POTENTIAL LOSS OF FUNCTION	POTENTIAL LOSS OF FUNCTION	FUNCTION LIKELY TO BE MAINTAINED		Glider sap tree	WHEN AN AMOUNT ABOVE DAMAGE THRESHOD OF ACTIVE XYLEM TISSUES OR AN AMOUNT ABOVE DAMAGE THRESHOLD OF PHLOEM TISSUE HAVE BEEN LOST AROUND CIRCUMFERENCE, TRE HAS POTENTIALLY LOST ITS FUNCTION. OTHERWISE RETAIN	S FUNCTION LIKELY TO BE MAINTAINED		DOES NOT AFFLY					
Glossy black cockatoo feed tree	POTENTIAL LOSS OF FUNCTION	POTENTIAL LOSS OF FUNCTION	POTENTIAL LOSS OF FUNCTION	FUNCTION LIKELY TO BE MAINTAINED		Glossy black cockatoo feed tree	WHEN AN AMOUNT ABOVE DAMAGE THRESHOD OF ACTIVE YVLEM TISSUES OR AN AMOUNT ABOVE DAMAGE THRESHOLD OF PHLOEM TISSUE HAVE BEEN LOST AROUND CIRCUMFERENCE, TREF HAS POTENTIALLY LOST ITS FUNCTION. OTHERWISE RETAIN	S FUNCTION LIKELY TO BE MAINTAINED		DOES NOT AFFLY					
Nectar tree	POTENTIAL LOSS OF FUNCTION	POTENTIAL LOSS OF FUNCTION	POTENTIAL LOSS OF FUNCTION	FUNCTION LIKELY TO BE MAINTAINED		Nectar tree	WHEN AN AMOUNT ABOVE DAMAGE THRESHOD OF ACTIVE XYLEM TISSUES OF AN AMOUNT ABOVE DAMAGE THRESHOLD OF PHLOEM TISSUE HAVE BEEN LOST AROUND CIRCUMFERENCE, TREE HAS POTENTIALLY LOST ITS POTENTIALLY LOST ITS	S FUNCTION LIKELY TO BE MAINTAINED		DOES	IOT APPLY				

Document No: D23/3150

Page 73 of 75

Status: FINAL

7 Appendix B – Draft study design

Final Report

Below is one potential study design that could be further developed for quantifying the impact of mechanical injuries and their interactions with future disturbances on tree functions. This approach would aim to assess both short- and longer-term impacts on tree function. This could be done by comparing the health of injured trees to uninjured trees across sites with varying time-since-harvesting and fire history. Trees could be revisited annually to assess any changes to tree function and to investigate whether any threatened fauna have been using trees.

- a. Identify 20-30 compartments, with a range of time-since-harvesting and fire.
 Drought severity during the most recent severe drought (i.e. 2019) would be standardised:
 - i. Harvested within 5 years and burnt 2019/2020 (i.e. harvested prior to 2019/2020)
 - ii. Harvested approx. 10-15 years ago and burnt 2019/2020
 - iii. Harvested within 5 years and has not burned since
 - iv. Harvested approx. 10-15 years ago and has not burned since
 - v. Note: Ideally each site would be subject to the same silvicultural system.
- b. Within each of these compartments, conduct systematic searches for live trees with mechanical injuries.
- c. For each injured tree, locate additional uninjured trees matching species and size.
- d. Permanently tag each tree for use in potential future monitoring.
- e. For each tagged tree conduct a comprehensive tree health assessment, which could include measurements of the following:
 - i. Dimensions/classification of mechanical injury
 - ii. Whether or not tree has other naturally-acquired injuries, e.g. fire scar.

- iii. For fire-affected sites, an investigation of additional fire impacts on mechanical injury site, such as changes to the size/shape of injuries due to fire.
- iv. Detailed canopy health assessment (e.g. see Stone *et al.* 2008; Nolan *et al.* 2021).
- v. Swabbing of injury site to collect sample of fungal colony
- vi. Investigation of presence of insect colonies at injury sites and insect damage to leaves
- vii. Measurement of leaf litter underneath trees, including taking samples that could be used to estimate levels of seed fall.
- viii. A subset of trees could potentially have sap flow meters installed, although these are expensive. Also potential for tensiometers (although expensive and single use) which continuously monitor water potential going forward.
 - ix. Investigation of whether threatened fauna species are using the tree.
- f. In addition to the above, counts of dead trees/logs could be performed across the compartment and when located to investigate whether or not the tree had mechanical injury and/or make inferences about other potential mechanisms of failure (e.g. due to fire, termites, drought).